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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

| QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2014
OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO
COMMISSION FILE NUMBER 001-34295
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Delaware 38-3916511
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

incorporation or organization)

1221 Avenue of the Americas, 36th Floor
New York, New York 10020
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code(212) 584-5100

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15(d) of the Securities Excha
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (orsiach shorter period that the registrant was reduodile such reports) and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastfgs. Yes™ No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lhsmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥alb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted @untsio Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the préwgd 2 months (or for such shorter
period that the registrant was required to submit @ost such files). Ye# No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting

company. See the definitions of “large accelerdited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirmmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.:

Large accelerated filéd Accelerated fileE] Non-accelerated fildd Smaller reporting compariyt

(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the A¢8s0 No ™

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of ehtfedassuer's classes of common stock, as ofdiest practicable date.

(Class) (Outstanding as of July 25, 2014)
COMMON STOCK, $0.001 PAR VALUE 5,671,876,695 SHARES
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SIRIUS XM HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(UNAUDITED)

For the Three Months Ended June

30, For the Six Months Ended June 30,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2014 2013 2014 2013
Revenue:
Subscriber revenue $ 878,16( $ 814,71¢ $ 1,729,590 $ 1,598,06!
Advertising revenue 25,49¢ 21,757 47,71 41,96¢
Equipment revenue 27,61¢ 18,44: 51,59¢ 36,59¢
Other revenue 104,07: 85,19: 204,15: 160,88:
Total revenue 1,035,34! 940,11( 2,033,051 1,837,50:
Operating expenses:
Cost of services:
Revenue share and royalties 200,22: 155,85¢ 395,63: 304,39(
Programming and content 69,57( 70,38 144,44 144,99:
Customer service and billing 90,09: 80,29( 181,16: 160,68«
Satellite and transmission 21,27: 19,49: 42,65 39,18¢
Cost of equipment 12,03( 5,442 19,83« 12,46¢
Subscriber acquisition costs 124,40° 129,99: 247,42¢ 246,10:
Sales and marketing 77,75¢ 68,05¢ 154,08t 133,95¢
Engineering, design and development 15,63( 15,05: 31,54 29,89«
General and administrative 72,58: 60,39: 148,82! 116,73:
Depreciation and amortization 67,20« 67,41" 135,47: 134,43
Total operating expenses 750,76° 672,37: 1,501,071 1,322,84
Income from operations 284,57¢ 267,73t 531,98t 514,66¢
Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized (67,527 (49,729 (121,61 (95,907)
Loss on extinguishment of debt and credit facsitieet — (16,377 — (16,3779
Interest and investment (loss) income (1,06¢€) 294 3,28: 1,93
Loss on change in value of derivatives (7,469 — (34,485 —
Other (loss) income (1,745 25€ (1,6572) 50z
Total other expense (77,79Y (65,55%) (154,46 (109,84Y)
Income before income taxes 206,78: 202,18: 377,51¢ 404,82
Income tax expense (86,82 (76,659 (163,57() (155,699
Net income $ 119,960 $ 125527 $ 21394¢ $ 249,12
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax (40 (109 78 (281)
Total comprehensive income $ 119,920 $ 125417 $ 214,020 $ 248,84
Net income per common share:
Basic $ 0.0z $ 0.0z $ 0.04 $ 0.04
Diluted $ 0.0z $ 0.0z $ 0.04 $ 0.04
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 5,865,03 6,354,75! 5,979,27. 6,307,54.
Diluted 6,210,07! 6,447,51 6,054,77. 6,526,69!

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consdidiat@ncial statements.
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SIRIUS XM HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of June 30, As of December 31,
2014 2013
(in thousands, except share and per share data) (unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 169,98( $ 134,80!
Accounts receivable, net 109,11 103,93
Receivables from distributors 93,15¢ 88,97t
Inventory, net 21,55¢ 13,86:
Prepaid expenses 110,99: 110,53(
Related party current assets 4,937 9,14¢
Deferred tax asset 846,61: 937,59¢
Other current assets 13,76¢ 20,16(
Total current assets 1,370,11 1,419,01.
Property and equipment, net 1,549,88 1,594,57.
Long-term restricted investments 5,71¢ 5,71¢
Deferred financing fees, net 13,33¢ 12,60¢
Intangible assets, net 2,672,11 2,700,086
Goodwill 2,203,40' 2,204,55.
Related party long-term assets 10¢ 30,16«
Long-term deferred tax asset 801,07¢ 868,05
Other long-term assets 8,76¢ 10,03t
Total assets $ 8,624,53. $ 8,844,78!
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 560,59: $ 578,33:
Accrued interest 55,02¢ 42,08t
Current portion of deferred revenue 1,635,90 1,586,61
Current portion of deferred credit on executorytcacts 3,28t 3,781
Current maturities of long-term debt 497,88 496,81!
Current maturities of long-term related party debt 10,98: 10,95¢
Related party current liabilities 4,961 20,32(
Total current liabilities 2,768,63 2,738,90.
Deferred revenue 144,71 149,02t
Deferred credit on executory contracts — 1,39¢
Long-term debt 4,115,42! 3,093,82
Related party long-term liabilities 15,05t 16,337
Other long-term liabilities 94,81 99,55¢
Total liabilities 7,138,64! 6,099,03

Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, undesignated, par value $0.0qtidation preference of $0.001 per share); 50,@D,0
shares authorized and 0 shares issued and outgeatdiune 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013

Common stock, par value $0.001; 9,000,000,000 stearthorized; 5,712,347,567 and 6,096,220,526 share

issued; 5,706,347,567 and 6,096,220,526 outstaradidgne 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, resplgctive 571z 6,09¢
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax (230 (30§)
Additional paid-in capital 7,221,37, 8,674,12'
Treasury stock, at cost; 6,000,000 and 0 sharesrofmon stock at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 201
respectively (20,739 —
Accumulated deficit (5,720,22) (5,934,17)

Total stockholders’ equity 1,485,88! 2,745,74,



Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 8,624,53 ¢ 8,844,78

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consdidfiatencial statements.
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SIRIUS XM HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(UNAUDITED)

Convertible
Perpetual
Preferred Stock,
Series B-1 Common Stock Treasury Stock
Accumulated

. Other Additional Total
(in thousands, except share Comprehensive Paid-in Accumulated  Stockholders’
data) Shares Amount Shares Amount Loss Capital Shares Amount Deficit Equity
Balance at December 31,
2013 — $ — 6,096,220,52 $6,09¢ $ (30¢) $8,674,12 — 3 —  $(5,934,17) $2,745,74.
Comprehensive income, net
of tax — — — — 78 — — — 213,94¢ 214,02
Share-based payment
expense — — — — — 36,027 — — — 36,027

Exercise of options and
vesting of restricted stock
units — — 3,835,83 4 — 25€ — — — 26C

Minimum withholding taxe:
on net share settlement of

stock-based compensatior — — — — — (7,452 — — — (7,452
Issuance of common stock

upon exercise of warrants — — 99,34¢ — — — — — — —
Common stock repurchase — — — — — (245,62) 393,808,14 (1,257,09) —  (1,502,71)
Common stock retired — —  (387,808,14) (38¢) —  (1,235,96) (387,808,14) 1,236,35 — —
Balance at June 30,2014 — $ — 5712,34756 $5,712 $ (230) $7,221,37 6,000,000 $ (20,739 $(5,720,22) $1,485,88'

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consdidfiat@ncial statements.
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(in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:

SIRIUS XM HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(UNAUDITED)

For the Six Months Ended June 30,

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Non-cash interest expense, net of amortizatiorremim
Provision for doubtful accounts
Amortization of deferred income related to equitgthod investment
Loss on extinguishment of debt and credit facitieet
Gain on unconsolidated entity investments, net
Dividend received from unconsolidated entity invesit
Loss on disposal of assets
Loss on change in value of derivatives
Share-based payment expense
Deferred income taxes
Other non-cash purchase price adjustments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Receivables from distributors
Inventory
Related party assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other long-term assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued interest
Deferred revenue
Related party liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired
Return of capital from investment in unconsolidatedity
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Taxes paid in lieu of shares issued for stock-basetbensation
Proceeds from long-term borrowings and revolviregirfacility, net of costs
Payment of premiums on redemption of debt
Repayment of long-term borrowings and revolvinglaréacility
Common stock repurchased and retired
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consdidiatencial statements.
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2014 2013

$ 21394 $ 24912
135,47 134,43
10,77 10,93:
21,28" 20,15:
(1,389) (1,389)

— 16,37
(96€) (1,38)
8,55¢ 13,21

— 12€
34,48t —
36,02 30,01
157,96 159,19:
(1,890) (137,88
(26,46 (15,219
(4,189 (6,869)
(7,69) 8,64¢
2,38¢ 20E
(1,057 (28,31)
1,23¢ 1,35¢
(40,099) (69,31()
12,94 3,86¢
44,98: 59,11¢
44¢ 1,171
(4,70 (5,549)
592,07: 442,02:
(58,41) (62,980
1,14 —
24,17¢ —
(33,099 (62,98()
26C 21,65¢
(7,319 —
1,921,23 1,136,64
— (14,719
(905,81}) (283,18()
(1,532,16) (1,108,61)
(523,80 (248,21)
35,17¢ 130,82
134,80 520,94
$ 16998 $ 651,76
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SIRIUS XM HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - (Continued)
(UNAUDITED)

For the Six Months Ended June 30,
(in thousands) 2014 2013
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash and Non-Cash Fidarmation
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest, net of amounts capitalized $ 92,06¢ $ 76,54(
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Capital lease obligations incurred to acquire asset $ 71¢ $ —
Conversion of Series B preferred stock to commoaokst $ — $ 1,29¢
Treasury stock not yet settled $ 20,73¢ $ 35,17:
Conversion of 7% Exchangeable Notes to common steetkof debt issuance and deferred financing costs $ — $ 45,09°

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consdidfiatencial statements.
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SIRIUS XM HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)
(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stad)

(1) Business & Basis of Presentatic

Business

We broadcast music, sports, entertainment, comatky,news, traffic and weather channels, as welh#otainment services, in the
United States on a subscription fee basis throughveo proprietary satellite radio systems. Suliws can also receive music and other
channels, plus features such as SiriusXM On DeraaddVlySXM, over the Internet, including through Bgttions for mobile devices. We
are also a leader in providing connected vehicjgiegtions and services. Our connected vehicleices\are designed to enhance the safety,
security and driving experience for vehicle ownghsle providing marketing and operational benefit@utomakers and their dealers.
Subscribers to our connected vehicle servicesa@raaluded in our subscriber count.

We have agreements with every major automaker (“GEkd offer satellite radios in their vehicles finavhich we acquire a
majority of our subscribers. We also acquire subscs through marketing to owners of factory-instisatellite radios that are not currently
subscribing to our services. Additionally, we distite our satellite radios through retail locatioragionwide and through our website. Sate
radio services are also offered to customers dgéiredaily rental car companies.

Our primary source of revenue is subscription feéth) most of our customers subscribing on an ahseani-annual, quarterly or
monthly basis. We offer discounts for prepaid amtfjer term subscription plans as well as discolantsiultiple subscriptions. We also
derive revenue from activation and other feesstie of advertising on select non-music channleésdirect sale of satellite radios and
accessories, and other ancillary services, suduaweather, traffic, data and Backseat TV services

In certain cases, automakers and dealers inclsdbscription to our radio services in the saleeasé price of new or previously
owned vehicles. The length of these trial subsiomgtvaries but is typically three to twelve mont#\%&e receive subscription payments for
these trials from certain automakers. We also ramstvarious automakers for certain costs assdcvta satellite radios installed in new
vehicles.

Liberty Media Corporation ("Liberty Media") benefily owns, directly and indirectly, over 50% oftloutstanding shares of our
common stock. As a result, we are a "controlled mamy" for the purposes of the NASDAQ corporate goagece requirements. Liberty
Media owns interests in a broad range of media,nsonications and entertainment businesses, inclutBrgybsidiaries, Atlanta National
League Baseball Club, Inc. and TruePosition, limerests in Charter Communications, Live Natiod amnority equity investments in Time
Warner Inc., Time Warner Cable, and Viacom.

Basis of Presentation

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q presents infdromafor Sirius XM Holdings Inc. (“Holdings”). Holdgs has no operations
independent of its wholly-owned subsidiary Siridgl Radio Inc. ("Sirius XM").

The accompanying unaudited consolidated finant@éments of Holdings and its subsidiaries have lpeepared in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting princigt€&AAP”), the instructions to Form 10-Q and Articl® of Regulation S-X of the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission ("SECThterim financial reporting. Certain informatiand footnote disclosures normally
included in the financial statements presentedaoalance with GAAP have been condensed or onpitesbiant to such rules and
regulations.

All significant intercompany transactions have belminated in consolidation. In the opinion of rgement, all normal recurring
adjustments necessary for a fair presentation ofinaudited consolidated financial statements asioé 30, 2014 and for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 have been made.

Interim results are not necessarily indicativehaf tesults that may be expected for a full yeais Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
should be read together with our Annual Report omF10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 clwhias filed with the SEC on
February 4, 2014.

We have evaluated events subsequent to the badhreé date and prior to the filing of this Quastétkeport on Form 10-Q for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and leedned that no events have occurred that wagdire
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SIRIUS XM HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Contin ued
(UNAUDITED)
(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stad)

adjustment to our unaudited consolidated finarstiiements. For a discussion of subsequent evettdd not require adjustment to our
unaudited consolidated financial statements reféidte 18.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith GAAP requires management to make estimatesassumptions that affe
the amounts reported in the financial statemendsf@stnotes. Estimates, by their nature, are basgddgment and available information.
Actual results could differ materially from thosgtienates. Significant estimates inherent in thg@aration of the accompanying unaudited
consolidated financial statements include asseaiment, depreciable lives of our satellites, shased payment expense, and income taxes

(2) Acquisitions

On November 4, 2013, we purchased all of the outiitg shares of the capital stock of the conneegdicle business of Agero, Inc.
("Agero"). The transaction was accounted for usirgacquisition method of accounting. During themsbnths ended June 30, 2014 , the
working capital calculation associated with themsaction was finalized, resulting in a decreasgldf44 to the original purchase price and
Goodwill, which we collected during the three manémded March 31, 2014. As of June 30, 2014 , @ad@®ill balance associated with the
acquisition was $388,318 . No other assets ofliies have been adjusted as a result of the firaking capital calculation.

3) Summary of Significant Accounting Policie

Fair Value of Financial | nstruments

For assets and liabilities required to be repoatefdir value, GAAP provides a hierarchy that gtipes inputs to valuation techniqt
used to measure fair value into three broad letegel 1 inputs are based on unadjusted quotedgpiicactive markets for identical
instruments. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other thpaoted market prices included within Level 1, theg observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly. Level 3 inputs arrabservable inputs for the asset or liability. Adwne 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the
carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalentsuats@nd other receivables, and accounts payaplexmated fair value due to the short-
term nature of these instruments.

Our assets and liabilities measured at fair valapevas follows:

June 30, 2014 December 31, 2013
Total Fair Total Fair
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Value
Assets:
Sirius XM Canada Holdings Inc.
("Sirius XM Canada") - investment
(a) $ 310,30( — — $ 310,30 $ 432,20( — — $ 432,20(
Sirius XM Canada - fair value of ho:
contract of debenture (b) $ — — — 3 — 3 — — 3,641 $ 3,641
Sirius XM Canada - fair value of
embedded derivative of debenture () — — — —  $ — — 57 % 57
Liabilities:
Debt (c) $ — 5,267,80. — $526780 $ — 4,066,75! — $ 4,066,75!
Share Repurchase Agreement (d) $ — — — 3 —  $ — 15,70: — $ 15,70
(a) This amount approximates fair value. The carryialyg of our investment in Sirius XM Canada was 86 $26,972 as of June 30, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, respectively.
(b) As of December 31, 2013, we held an investrite@AD $4,000 face value of 8% convertible unsedusubordinated debentures issued by Sirius

XM Canada for which the embedded conversion feata® bifurcated from the host contract. Sirius XEh@da redeemed and converted the
debentures during the three months ended March(BH4.

(c) The fair value for nopublicly traded instruments is based upon estinmfates a market maker and brokerage firm. Refer @eNL3 for informatiol
related to the carrying value of our debt as oeJ8®, 2014 and December 31, 2013 .
(d) The final installment under the share repusetagreement with Liberty Media was settled on I&%j 2014. The fair value of the derivative

associated with the share repurchase agreemertetgsnined using observable inputs, including tt. dpot LIBOR
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SIRIUS XM HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Contin ued
(UNAUDITED)
(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stad)

curve and other available market data and wasdedadn our unaudited consolidated balance she®slated party current liabilities, with chang
in fair value recorded to our unaudited statemehtomprehensive income.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (L0ss)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss of $230 a 30n 2014 was primarily comprised of the cumutafiwreign currency
translation adjustments related to our intereSiiius XM Canada. During the three and six montided June 30, 2014 , we recorded a
foreign currency translation adjustment of $(40J &8 , respectively. In addition, during the signths ended June 30, 2014 , upon the
redemption and conversion of the 8% convertibleeansed subordinated debentures issued by SiriusCdNada, we reclassified $228et o
tax, of previously recognized foreign currency #lation losses out of Accumulated other comprelvenisiss and into Interest and investment
(loss) income.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsr8assued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2024Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) . This ASU is a comprehensive new revenue recimgnibodel that requires a company to recognize
revenue to depict the transfer of goods or sentim@scustomer at an amount that reflects the deraiion it expects to receive in exchange
for those goods or services. The ASU also requaidefitional disclosure about the nature, amoumtingy and uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows arising from customer contracts, includingrsficant judgments and changes in judgments asetsisecognized from costs incurred to
obtain or fulfill a contract. This ASU is effecévor annual reporting periods beginning after Deloer 15, 2016 and early adoption is not
permitted. Accordingly, we will adopt this ASU danuary 1, 2017. Companies may use either agfinispective or a modified retrospect
approach to adopt this ASU and we are currentlyuaimg which transition approach to use. We ameantly evaluating the impact of the
adoption of this ASU on our consolidated finansi@tements.

(4) Earnings per Share

Basic net income per common share is calculatedivigiing the income available to common stockhaddey the weighted average
common shares outstanding during each reportiniggheDiluted net income per common share adjugtismbighted average number of
common shares outstanding for the potential ditutiat could occur if common stock equivalents (astible debt, warrants, stock options
and restricted stock units) were exercised or cdadénto common stock, calculated using the trastock method. We had no participat
securities during the three and six months ended 30, 2014 . In 2013, we utilized the two-classhmeé in calculating basic net income per
common share, as our Series B Preferred Stock erasdered to be participating securities througtuday 18, 2013. On January 18, 2013,
Liberty Media converted its remaining 6,250,100stannding shares of our Series B Preferred Stooklift93,509,076 shares of common
stock.

Common stock equivalents of approximately 116,686.8nd 355,918,000 for the three months ended 302014 and 2013,
respectively, and 386,276,000 and 352,795,00thfosix months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 , tésgdgcwere excluded from the
calculation of diluted net income per common stzr¢he effect would have been anti-dilutive.
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SIRIUS XM HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Contin ued
(UNAUDITED)
(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stad)

For the Three Months Ended June

30, For the Six Months Ended June 30,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2014 2013 2014 2013
Numerator:
Net income $ 119,960 $ 12552 $ 21394¢ $ 249,12
Less:

Allocation of undistributed income to Series B ere¢d Stock — — — (4,979
Net income available to common stockholders foidast income per
common share $ 119,960 $ 125527 $ 21394¢ $ 244,14
Add back:

Allocation of undistributed income to Series B Rre¢d Stock — — — 4,97¢

Effect of interest on assumed conversions of cdiblerdebt 5,36: — — —
Net income available to common stockholders fantdil net income per
common share $ 12532 $ 12552 $ 213,94¢ $ 249,12
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding foc basincome per
common share 5,865,03. 6,354,75! 5,979,27. 6,307,54.

Weighted average impact of assumed Series B Pedf&tock conversion — — — 128,63t

Weighted average impact of assumed convertible debt 272,85t — — —

Weighted average impact of other dilutive equitstinments 72,19( 92,76: 75,49¢ 90,52
Weighted average shares for diluted net income@@mon share 6,210,07: 6,447,51 6,054,77. 6,526,69:
Net income per common share:

Basic $ 0.0z $ 0.0z $ 0.04Z % 0.04
Diluted $ 00z % 00z $ 004 % 0.04

(5) Receivable

Accounts receivable, net, are stated at amount$rdoecustomers net of an allowance for doubtfulcamts. Our allowance for
doubtful accounts is based upon our assessmeatriolug factors. We consider historical experietite age of the receivable balances,
current economic conditions and other factors tinay affect the counterparty’s ability to pay. Babtexpense is included in Customer
service and billing expense in our unaudited cadat#d statements of comprehensive income.

Accounts receivable, net, consists of the following

June 30, December 31,
2014 2013
Gross accounts receivable $ 116,70: $ 113,01!
Allowance for doubtful accounts (7,58¢) (9,07¢)
Total accounts receivable, net $ 109,11°  § 103,93
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SIRIUS XM HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Contin ued
(UNAUDITED)
(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stad)

Receivables from distributors include billed andbillad amounts due from OEMs for services includethe sale or lease price of
vehicles, as well as billed amounts due from distors and retailers of our satellite radios. Weehaot established an allowance for doubtful
accounts for our receivables from distributors ashave historically not experienced any significamitection issues with OEMs. Receivak
from distributors consist of the following:

June 30, December 31,

2014 2013
Billed $ 41,15 $ 38,53:
Unbilled 52,00¢ 50,44:
Total $ 93,15¢ $ 88,97t

(6) Inventory, net

Inventory consists of finished goods, refurbishedds, chip sets and other raw material componesgd in manufacturing radios.
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or markée record an estimated allowance for inventory iaonsidered slow moving or obsolete
or whose carrying value is in excess of net rebleza&alue. The provision related to products pusekafor resale in our direct to consumer
distribution channel and components held for rebglas is reported as a component of Cost of eqeiifpim our unaudited consolidated
statements of comprehensive income. The provigtaiad to inventory consumed in our OEM and retisiribution channel is reported as a
component of Subscriber acquisition costs in owudlited consolidated statements of comprehensoarie.

Inventory, net, consists of the following:

June 30, December 31,
2014 2013
Raw materials $ 12,43t $ 12,35¢
Finished goods 20,35¢ 15,72
Allowance for obsolescence (11,237 (14,219
Total inventory, net $ 21,55¢  § 13,86¢

(7)  Goodwill

Gooduwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the estimated fair value of the net tanggiole identifiable intangible assets
acquired in business combinations. Our annual impait assessment is performed as of the fourtheafreach year, and an assessment is
performed at other times if an event occurs omeitstances change that would more likely than riiice the fair value of the asset below its
carrying value. If the carrying value of goodwidaeeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recxaph

As of June 30, 2014 , there were no indicatorsnpfdirment and no impairment loss was recordeddodwill during the three and
six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 . Durimgithmonths ended June 30, 2014 , the workingalagzlculation associated with our
acquisition of the connected vehicle business adrdgvas finalized, resulting in a decrease of $4 fb4the original purchase price and
Goodwill. As of June 30, 2014 , the cumulative bakaof goodwill impairments recorded since the 2098 merger (the "Merger") between
our wholly owned subsidiary, Vernon Merger Corpmmatand XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. ("XM"),as $4,766,190 , which was
recognized during the year ended December 31, 2008
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(8) Intangible Asset:
We recorded intangible assets at fair value relatéde Merger that were formerly held by XM. InWwenber 2013, we recorded

intangible assets at fair value as a result obttwpuisition of the connected vehicle business adrAgOur intangible assets include the
following:

June 30, 2014 December 31, 2013
Weighted Gross Gross
Average Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Useful Lives Value Amortization Value Value Amortization Value
Due to the Merger:
Indefinite life intangible assets:
FCC licenses Indefinite $ 2,083,65 $ — $ 2,08365 $ 2,08365 $ — $ 2,083,65
Trademark Indefinite 250,00( — 250,00( 250,00( — 250,00(
Definite life intangible assets:
Subscriber relationships 9 years 380,00 (288,999 91,00: 380,00 (271,37)) 108,62¢
Licensing agreements 9.1 year: 45,28¢ (21,44 23,84: 45,28¢ (19,609 25,68¢
Proprietary software 6 year: 16,55: (13,679 2,87¢ 16,55 (13,389 3,16¢
Developed technology 10 year: 2,00(¢ (1,189 817 2,00¢ (1,089 917
Leasehold interests 7.4 year: 13z (10%) 27 13z (96) 3€
Due to acquisition of connected
vehicle business of Agero:
Definite life intangible assets:
OEM relationships 15 year: 220,00( (9,779 210,22: 220,00( (2,44 217,55¢
Proprietary software 10 year: 10,66 (982 9,681 10,66 (245) 10,41¢
Total intangib|e assets $ 3,008,299 $ (336,171) $ 2,672,11: $ 3,008,291 $ (308,223) $ 2,700,06:

Indefinite Life I ntangible Assets

We have identified our FCC licenses and the XMeradrk as indefinite life intangible assets aftersidering the expected use of
the assets, the regulatory and economic environmiénin which they are used and the effects of tdxszence on their use.

We hold FCC licenses to operate our satellite aigitidio radio service and provide ancillary sessicThe following table outlines
the years in which each of our licenses expires:

FCC satellite licenses Expiration year
SIRIUS FM-1 2017
SIRIUS FM-2 2017
SIRIUS FM-3 2017
SIRIUS FM-5 2017
SIRIUS FM-6®

XM-1 @

XM-2 @

XM-3 2021
XM-4 2014
XM-5 2018
Q) The FCC license for our FM-6 satellite will issued for a period of eight years , beginninghendate we certify to the FCC that the satellas h

been successfully placed into orbit and that treratpns of the satellite fully conform to the terand conditions of the space station radio
authorization.

2) The FCC license for our XM-1 satellite expi@d May 31, 2014. The FCC has granted us speciddeary authority for approximately six months
to operate our XM-1 satellite and prepare it foorthiting maneuvers.
?3) The FCC license for our XM-2 satellite expi@i March 31, 2014. The FCC has granted us specigdorary authority for approximately six

months to operate our XM-2 satellite and perforrmartiéing maneuvers.
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Prior to expiration, we are required to apply foeaewal of our FCC licenses. The renewal and siderof our licenses is
reasonably certain at minimal cost, which is expdres incurred. Each of the FCC licenses authougés use the broadcast spectrum, which
is a renewable, reusable resource that does nitdep exhaust over time. We have filed an appboato renew the license for our XM-4
satellite which expires in December 2014. Thatiappon is being processed by the FCC and we expuedll be granted in due course.

In connection with the Merger, $250,000 of the pase price was allocated to the XM trademark. A3uoe 30, 2014 , there were
no legal, regulatory or contractual limitations@sated with the XM trademark.

Our annual impairment assessment of our indefintengible assets is performed as of the fourthitguaf each year. An assessir
is performed at other times if an event occursirmumstances change that would more likely thanredtice the fair value of the asset below
its carrying value. If the carrying value of théaingible assets exceeds its fair value, an impaitiess is recognized. As June 30, 2014ere
were no indicators of impairment, and no impairmess was recorded for intangible assets with imiteflives during the three and six
months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 .

Definite Life | ntangible Assets

Subscriber relationships are amortized on an actelt basis over 9 years , which reflects the es@chpattern in which the
economic benefits will be consumed. Other defilifeintangible assets include certain licensingeggnents, which are amortized over a
weighted average useful life of 9.1 years on dgtitdine basis. The fair value of the OEM relasbips and proprietary software acquired
from the acquisition of the connected vehicle besinof Agero are being amortized over their es@chateighted average useful lives of 15
and 10 years, respectively.

Amortization expense for all definite life intantgtassets was $13,860 and $12,345 for the thre¢hmended June 30, 2014 and
2013, respectively, and $27,944 and $24,936 stk months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 , résggcExpected amortization expense
for the remaining period in 2014, each of the figemars 2015 through 2018 and for periods there&ftas follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount
2014 (remaining) $ 27,07
2015 51,70(
2016 48,54t
2017 34,88:
2018 19,46
Thereafter 156,80:

Total definite life intangible assets, net $ 338,46¢
(9) Interest Costs

We capitalized a portion of the interest on funderdwed as part of the cost of constructing ouelitds and related launch vehicles.
We capitalized interest associated with our FM+&élge and related launch vehicle through its plaent into orbit during the fourth quarter
of 2013. We also incurred interest costs on out geruments and on our satellite incentive agre@s The following is a summary of our
interest costs:

For the Three Months Ended For the Six Months Ended June

June 30, 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Interest costs charged to expense $ 67,52 $ 49,72¢ $ 121,61 $ 95,90:
Interest costs capitalized 204 8,03¢ 41C 16,00¢
Total interest costs incurred $ 67,72t § 57,766 $§ 122,020 $ 111,91
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Included in interest costs incurred is hon-caséregt expense, consisting of amortization relatemtiginal issue discounts,

premiums and deferred financing fees of $5,548%Hd90 for the three months ended June 30, 2012@t8, respectively, and $10,7d8d
$10,932 for the six months ended June 30, 20128468 , respectively.

(20) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net, consists of the faligw

June 30, December 31,
2014 2013
Satellite system $ 239761 $ 2,407,42
Terrestrial repeater network 107,88! 109,36
Leasehold improvements 48,89¢ 46,17:
Broadcast studio equipment 59,50: 59,02(
Capitalized software and hardware 314,52¢ 298,26
Satellite telemetry, tracking and control facilitie 65,86¢ 63,94«
Furniture, fixtures, equipment and other 67,75" 67,27"
Land 38,41 38,41
Building 58,92: 58,66
Construction in progress 141,82( 103,14¢
Total property and equipment 3,301,20: 3,251,69!
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,751,32) (1,657,11))
Property and equipment, net $ 154988 § 1,594,57.
Construction in progress consists of the following:
June 30, December 31,
2014 2013
Satellite system $ 12,84: % 11,87¢
Terrestrial repeater network 41,95¢ 30,07¢
Capitalized software 64,65¢ 39,92/
Other 22,36¢ 21,26°
Construction in progress $ 141,82(  $ 103,14¢

Depreciation expense on property and equipmen$&a844 and $55,070 for the three months ended3w2014 and 2013 ,
respectively, and $107,527 and $109,497 for themgirnths ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectiddyetired property and equipment
of $13,518 and $12,862 during the six months edded 30, 2014 and 2013 , respectively, which iredutthe retirement of our XM-2

satellite. Our XM-1 satellite is expected to berest in the fourth quarter of 2014.
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Satellites

We currently own a fleet of eight operating satiedi The chart below provides certain informatiartttese satellites:

Estimated End of

Satellite Designation Year Delivered Depreciable Life
FM-1* 2000 2013
FM-2* 2000 2013
FM-3 2000 2015
FM-5 2009 2024
FM-6 2013 2028
XM-3 2005 2020
XM-4 2006 2021
XM-5 2010 2025

* Satellite was fully depreciated as of June 3d,£2but is still in operation.

(11) Related Party Transaction:

In the normal course of business, we enter intesiations with related parties. Our related paitielside Liberty Media, which has
beneficially owned over 50% of our outstanding canmstock since January 2013 and has two execuive®ne director on our board of
directors. Gregory B. Maffei, the President andeChixecutive Officer of Liberty Media, is the Chaian of our board of directors.

We hold an equity method investment in Sirius XMh@da. We own approximately 47,300,000 shares afsS¥M Canada,
representing a 37.0% equity interest and a 25.08ayanterest. We primarily provide programming arwhtent services to Sirius XM
Canada.

During the three months ended June 30, 2014 , wkated our investment in M-Way Solutions GmbH (Way") and determined
that there was an other than temporary declinkarfdir value. As a result, we reduced our investrbalance to zerand recognized a loss
$2,342 in Other (loss) income in our unaudited otidated statements of comprehensive income.

We had the following related party balances at Bhe&2014 and December 31, 2013 :

Related party current asset Related F;asrst)étlsong-term Relate"dagiellirtg SC urrent Related party current debt Relateciiggirlg elgng-term

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Liberty Media $ 13C % 27¢ % — — 64 $ 15,76¢ $ 10,98 $ 10,95¢ % — o=
Sirius XM Canada 4,807 8,867 10¢& 27,61¢ 4,897 4,55¢ — — 15,05¢ 16,337
M-Way — — — 2,54¢ — — — — — —
Total $ 4937 $ 914t % 106 $ 30,16+ $ 4961 $ 20,32( $ 10,98. $ 10,95¢ $ 1505 $ 16,33
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Liberty Media

On October 9, 2013, we entered into an agreemightlyberty Media to repurchase $500,000 of our cwon stock from Liberty
Media. Pursuant to that agreement, we repurchabg@ $00 of our common stock from Liberty Media 0.3. As of December 31, 2013,
$15,702was recorded to Related party current liabilitesthe fair value of the derivative associated wlith share repurchase agreement
Liberty Media as there were certain terms in thevésd purchase contract that could cause the dldig#o not be fulfilled. As a result, the
instrument was a liability and was marked to failue with any gain or loss recorded to our unadditensolidated statements of
comprehensive income. On April 25, 2014, we congpléhe final purchase installment under this sheparchase agreement and repurch
$340,000 of our shares of common stock from Lib&tedia at a price of $3.66 per share. We recogrti7ed63 and $34,485 to Loss on
change in value of derivatives in our unauditedsotidated statements of comprehensive income tktatthis final repurchase during the
three and six months ended June 30, 2014 , resphcti

Liberty Media held $11,000 in principal amount afr @% Exchangeable Senior Subordinated Notes di# @0June 30, 2014 and
December 31, 2013 .

Sirius XM Canada

Our related party current asset balances primecihsist of deferred programming costs, accruedestend chip set costs that we
are reimbursed for. Our related party long-ternetbalance as of December 31, 2013 included owsinvent balance in Sirius XM Canada
of which $26,161 related to equity method gooduaiiltl intangible assets. Sirius XM Canada declaredetids to us of $30,010 and $3,730
during the three months ended June 30, 2014 a8l ,2@bpectively, and $34,455 and $7,482 duringthenonths ended June 30, 2014 and
2013, respectively, which were recorded as a témhuto our investment balance in Sirius XM Canaiaa result of the dividends received
from Sirius XM Canada during the three months entlgee 30, 2014 , our investment balance has beeced to $0 . Our related party
liabilities as of June 30, 2014 and December 3132Aclude $2,776 for the current portion of dederrevenue and $14,802 and $16,190 ,
respectively, for the long-term portion of deferregienue due to the carrying value of deferrednmegaecorded as of the Merger date related
to agreements with XM Canada, now Sirius XM Canéalathe rights to broadcast and market Nationatkéy League games for a ten-year
term. The estimated fair value of deferred revefnoim XM Canada as of the Merger date was approxmat34,000 , which is amortized on
a straight-line basis through 2020, the end ofttigected term of the current existing agreements.

We recorded the following revenue and expensesidsd with our related parties which were recoriteour unaudited
consolidated statements of comprehensive income:

For the Three Months Ended For the Six Months Ended June

June 30, 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Sirius XM Canada:

Revenue (a) $ 1255¢ ¢ 1256: $ 2434 $ 23,31

Share of net (losses) earnings (b) $ (1,019 $ 37 $ 3306 $ 1,382
Liberty Media:

Expenses (c) $ 2799 $ (468) $ (556) $ (9,359
(@ Under our agreements with Sirius XM Canadareeeive a percentage-based royalty for certaiasgyy subscription revenue earned by Sirius XM

Canada for the distribution of Sirius and XM chdeneoyalties for activation fees and reimburseraéat other charges. We record revenue from
Sirius XM Canada as Other revenue in our unauditeolidated statements of comprehensive income.

(b) Our share of Sirius XM Canada's net (lossas)irgs is recorded to Interest and investmens)logome in our unaudited consolidated statements
of comprehensive income on a one month lag. Duhiegix months ended June 30, 2014 , our shargiof XM Canada’s net earnings included a
gain of $1,251 related to the fair value receiveehicess of the carrying value associated witlredemption of our investment in Sirius XM
Canada’s 8% convertible unsecured subordinatedndietes in February 2014. This amount includes amadion related to the equity method
intangible assets of $0 and $364 for the three hsoanded June 30, 2014 and 2013 , respectively$26®land $727 for the six months ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

(c) We recognize Interest expense associated withdh®p of the 7% Exchangeable Senior SubordinatedNdue 2014 held by Liberty Mec
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(12) Investments

Long Term Restricted | nvestments

Restricted investments relate to reimbursemengatitins under letters of credit issued for the Bien&lessors of our office space.
As of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 our lteng-restricted investments were $5,718 .

(13) Debt

Our debt as of June 30, 2014 @mwtember 31, 2018onsisted of the following:

Carrying value at

Issuer / Principal December 31,
Borrower Issued Debt Maturity Date Interest Payable Amount June 30, 2014 2013
Sirius XM August 2008 7% Exchangeable December 1, 2014  semi-annuallyon Junel $ 502,37( $ 501,48¢ $ 500,48:
(a)(b) Senior Subordinated Notes (th and December 1
"Exchangeable Notes")
Sirius XM May 2013 4.25% Senior Notes May 15, 2020 semi-annually on May 15 500,00t 495,16! 494,80¢
(a)(c) (the "4.25% Notes") and November 15
Sirius XM September 5.875% Senior Notes October 1, 2020 semi-annually on April 1 650,00( 643,34! 642,91:
(a)(c) 2013 (the "5.875% Notes") and October 1
Sirius XM August 2013  5.75% Senior Notes August 1, 2021 semi-annually on 600,00( 594,79: 594,49¢
(a)(c) (the "5.75% Notes") February 1 and August 1
Sirius XM May 2013 4.625% Senior Notes May 15, 2023 semi-annually on May1£t 500,00( 494,88 494,65!
(a)(c) (the "4.625% Notes") and November 15
Sirius XM May 2014 6.00% Senior Notes July 15, 2024 semi-annually on January  1,500,00! 1,483,30: —
(a)(c)(d) (the "6.00% Notes") 15 and July 15
Sirius XM August 2012  5.25% Senior Secured Notes ( August 15, 2022 semi-annually on 400,00( 394,89: 394,64¢
(a)(c)(e) "5.25% Notes") February 15 and Augusi
15

Sirius XM December Senior Secured Revolving CreditDecember 5, 2017  variable fee paid 1,250,00! — 460,00(
) 2012 Facility (the "Credit Facility") quarterly
Sirius XM Various Capital leases Various n/a n/e 16,42( 19,59:
Total Debt 4,624,29. 3,601,59!

Less: total current maturities non-related party 497,88 496,81!

Less: total current maturities related party 10,98: 10,95¢
Total long-term debt $ 4,11542¢ $  3,093,82
(@ The carrying value of the notes are net of the feimg unamortized original issue discot
(b) Sirius XM and Holdings are co-obligors witlspect to the Exchangeable Notes. The Exchangeaitésbre senior subordinated obligations and

rank junior in right of payment to our existing afiadure senior debt and equally in right of paymeith our existing and future senior subordinated
debt. Substantially all of our domestic wholly-owlreubsidiaries guarantee our obligations undeethetes on a senior subordinated basis. The
Exchangeable Notes are exchangeable at any tithe aption of the holder into shares of our comrsimtk at an exchange rate of 543.1372 shares
of common stock per $1,000 principal amount ofritbtes, which is equivalent to an approximate exgbarice of $1.841 per share of common
stock. During the three months ended June 30, 28ielcommon stock reserved for conversion in cotime with the Exchangeable Notes was
considered to be dilutive in our calculation ofut#ld net income per share and anti-dilutive dutirgsix months ended June 30, 2014 and the three
and six months ended June 30, 2013 .

(c) Substantially all of our domestic wholbywned subsidiaries have guaranteed these

(d) In May 2014, Sirius XM issued $1,500,000 aggte principal amount of 6.00% Senior Notes duet2@2ith an original issuance discount of
$16,875 .

(e) On April 10, 2014, we entered into a supplememdénture to the indenture governing the 5.25% Nptesuant to which we granted a first prio

lien on substantially all of the assets of Siriud And the guarantors to the holders of the 5.25%&d he liens securing the 5.25% Notes are ¢
and ratable to the liens granted to secure theilradility.

) In December 2012, Sirius XM entered into afiyear Credit Facility with a syndicate of finaaldnstitutions for $1,250,000 . Sirius XM's
obligations under the Credit Facility are guaradteg certain of its material domestic subsidiagad are secured by a lien on substantially all of
Sirius XM's assets and the assets of its matesialestic subsidiaries. Borrowings under the Creddilfy are used for working capital and other
general corporate purposes, including dividendsrfting of acquisitions and share
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repurchases. Interest on borrowings is payablequmagerly basis and accrues at a rate based c@RIBlus an applicable rate. Sirius XM is also
required to pay a variable fee on the average dailysed portion of the Credit Facility and is pdgaim a quarterly basis. The variable rate for the
Credit Facility was 0.30% per annum as of June28@4 . As of June 30, 2014 , $1,250,000 was auaifal future borrowing under the Credit
Facility. Sirius XM's outstanding borrowings undee Credit Facility are classified as Long-termtdetthin our unaudited consolidated balance
sheets due to the long-term maturity of this debt.

Debt Repurchases

During the three months ended June 30, 2013 , wehpeed $29,013 and $100,650 of our then outstgr&l#6% Senior Notes due
2015 and 7.625% Senior Notes due 2018, respectifglan aggregate purchase price, including isted $32,977 and $112,569 ,
respectively, and recognized $3,755 and $12,628pectively, to Loss on extinguishment of detat eredit facilities, net, consisting primait
of unamortized discount, deferred financing feed @payment premium.

Covenants and Restrictions

The Exchangeable Notes require compliance wittagedovenants that restrict our ability to, amotigeo things, (i) enter into
certain transactions with affiliates and (ii) meageconsolidate with another person.

Under the Credit Facility, Sirius XM, our wholly-ewed subsidiary, must comply with a debt maintenameenant that it not exceed
a total leverage ratio, calculated as total codatdid debt to consolidated operating cash flovs.@fto 1.0 . The Credit Facility generally
requires compliance with certain covenants thatiotsSirius XM's ability to, among other things), ihcur additional indebtedness, (ii) incur
liens, (iii) pay dividends or make certain othestricted payments, investments or acquisition$,ghter into certain transactions with
affiliates, (v) merge or consolidate with anothergon, (vi) sell, assign, lease or otherwise disdsll or substantially all of Sirius XM's
assets, and (vii) make voluntary prepayments dhoedebt, in each case subject to exceptions.

The indentures for our notes restrict Sirius XMdsitguarantor subsidiaries' ability to create, asstintur or guarantee additional
indebtedness without such non-guarantor subsigjaayanteeing each such series of notes on a st fsis. The 4.25% Notes, 4.625%
Notes,5.75% Notes, 5.875% Notes and 6.00% Notes aresalgect to covenants that, among other thingst Binius XM's ability and the
ability of its subsidiaries to create certain lipaster into sale/leaseback transactions; and nmrgensolidate.

Under our debt, the following generally constitateevent of default: (i) a default in the paymefninterest; (ii) a default in the
payment of principal; (iii) failure to comply wittovenants; (iv) failure to pay other indebtedndtes dinal maturity or acceleration of other
indebtedness exceeding a specified amount; (Vdioegvents of bankruptcy; (vi) a judgment for payping’ money exceeding a specified
aggregate amount; and (vii) voidance of subsidjmugrantees, subject to grace periods where apfdiddlan event of default occurs and is
continuing, our debt could become immediately due payable.

At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 , we weteripliance with our debt covenants.
(14) Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share

We were authorized to issue up to 9,000,000,006esha common stock as of June 30, 2014 and Deae®ih@013 . There were
5,712,347,567 and 6,096,220,526 shares of comnogk &sued and 5,706,347,567 and 6,096,220,52@éslatstanding on June 30, 2014
and December 31, 2013, respectively.

As of June 30, 2014 , approximately 548,852,000eshaf common stock were reserved for issuancernnection with outstanding

convertible debt, warrants, incentive stock baseards and common stock to be granted to third gg&ripon satisfaction of performance
targets.
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Sock Repurchase Program

As of June 30, 2014 , our board of directors hgat@ped $4,000,00fbr repurchases of our common stock. In July 2@i4 board ¢
directors approved an additional $2,000,000 fourejpases of our common stock. Our board of direaal not establish an end date for this
stock repurchase program. Shares of common stoglbmaurchased from time to time on the open maakdtin privately negotiated
transactions, including transactions with Libertedih and its affiliates.

On October 9, 2013 , we entered into an agreemaepurchase $500,000 of our common stock fromryldedia. Pursuant to
this agreement, we repurchased $160,000 of our @mstock from Liberty Media in 2013 . On April 25)14, we completed the final
purchase installment and repurchased 92,888,56&sbhour common stock for $340,000 from Libertgdia at a price of $3.66 per share.

As there were certain terms in the forward purcleasgract with Liberty Media that could have cauteslobligation not to be
fulfilled, the instrument was classified as a llapiand was marked to fair value with any gaiass recorded to our unaudited consolidated
statements of comprehensive income. We recognizgtb$ and $34,485 to Loss on change in value @a¥ateres in our unaudited
consolidated statements of comprehensive incomagltive three and six months ended June 30, 2683pectively.

In May 2014, we entered into an accelerated stegmarchase agreement ("ASR agreement") with a fartly financial institution to
repurchase up to $600,000 of our common stockeUtite ASR agreement we prepaid $600,000 tomaadial institution and received an
initial delivery of 112,500,000 shares of our conmstock. We retired these shares and recorded43835reduction to stockholders' equity
in the second quarter of 2014. The remaining $2B6der this ASR agreement is included in Addaigraid-in capital within our
unaudited consolidated balance sheets as of Jyrg930 . The ASR agreement is expected to matutatanthan August 1, 2014 and will
settle following maturity. The aggregate purchasespwve will pay under the ASR agreement will béetimined using a pre-agreed grid that
references the volume-weighted average price (“VWAPour common stock, and the total aggregate lmemof shares to be repurchased
under the ASR agreement will be determined baseti@iWAP of our common stock minus a discountmgyithe term of the ASR
agreement.

During the six months ended June 30, 2014 , werchjpsed 188,419,584 additional shares of our constamk for $612,903 ,
including fees and commissions, on the open ma@@ihmon stock repurchases are retired upon settieys of June 30, 2014 , $20,739 of
common stock repurchases had not settled, norfetiesd, and were recorded as Treasury stock wabirunaudited consolidated balance
sheets and unaudited consolidated statementsaiistiolers’ equity.

As of June 30, 2014 , our cumulative repurchasesedDecember 2012 have totaled 914,066,011 shar&8,315,263 , and
$684,737 remained available under our stock re@seiprogram, which excludes the additional $2,@Dduthorized by our board of
directors in July 2014.

Share Lending Arrangements

To facilitate the offering of the Exchangeable Not@e entered into share lending agreements wittgdoStanley Capital Services
Inc. and UBS AG London Branch in July 2008. Allhea shares were returned to us as of October 2Bitlithe share lending agreements
were terminated.

We recorded interest expense related to the amtidizof the costs associated with the share Ignairangement and other issuance
costs for our Exchangeable Notes of $3,433 and$3dr the three months ended June 30, 2014 an8 2@bpectively, and $6,779 and
$6,306 for the six months ended June 30, 2014 8&8 2respectively. As of June 30, 2014 , the untimedl balance of the debt issuance
costs was $5,922 , with $5,792 recorded in Otheeot assets and $186corded in Related party current assets in oundited consolidate
balance sheets. As of December 31, 2013 , the utiaebalance of the debt issuance costs was §12,&ith $12,423 recorded in Other
current assets, and $278 recorded in Related partgnt assets. These costs will continue to betared until the debt is terminated.
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Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share

We were authorized to issue up to 50,000,000 shudnesdesignated preferred stock as of June 304 a6d December 31, 2013,
respectively. In January 2013, Liberty Media cote@iits remaining shares of the Series B Prefetedk into 1,293,509,076 shares of our
common stock. There were no shares of preferrezk $¢§sued or outstanding as of June 30, 2014 adreer 31, 2013 .

Warrants

We have issued warrants to purchase shares obaumnon stock in connection with distribution andgmamming agreements.
During the three months ended June 30, 2014 , Q@B&varrants were exercised to purchase shauhon stock on a net settlement
basis, resulting in the issuance of 99,349 shdrearocommon stock. Approximately 16,667,000 andt®8,000 warrants to acquire an equal
number of shares of common stock were outstandiddly vested as of June 30, 2014 and Decembge2(@®113, respectively. Warrants we
included in our calculation of diluted net incomar pommon share as the effect was dilutive forthihee and six months ended June 30, 2014
and 2013 . The outstanding warrants expire initseduarter of 2015. At June 30, 2014 and Decer8heP013 , the weighted average
exercise price of outstanding warrants was $2.850%2155 per share, respectively. We did not incamant related expenses during the three
and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 .

(15) Benefit Plans

We recognized share-based payment expense of F1niB$15,494 for the three months ended June(d@, &nd 2013 ,
respectively, and $36,027 and $30,012 for the sirthis ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 , respectively.

2009 Long-Term Stock I ncentive Plan

In May 2009, our stockholders approved the Sirits Radio Inc. 2009 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plangt‘2009 Plan”).
Employees, consultants and members of our boadd@ftors are eligible to receive awards under20@9 Plan. The 2009 Plan provides for
the grant of stock options, restricted stock awamelstricted stock units and other stock-based dsvénat the compensation committee of our
board of directors may deem appropriate. Vestiryaher terms of stock-based awards are set fortthei agreements with the individuals
receiving the awards. Stock-based awards grantéerihe 2009 Plan are generally subject to a v@séiquirement. Stock-based awards
generally expire ten years from the date of giaath restricted stock unit entitles the holdereeive one share of common stock upon
vesting. As of June 30, 2014 , approximately 79,03@ shares of common stock were available foréutpants under the 2009 Plan.

Other Plans

We maintain four other share-based benefit planthe-XM 2007 Stock Incentive Plan, the Amended agsdt&ed Sirius Satellite
Radio 2003 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan, the X888 Shares Award Plan and the XM Talent Option Rlanfurther awards may be
made under these plans and all outstanding aweedsilly vested.

The following table summarizes the weighted-ave@ggimptions used to compute the fair value obaptgranted to employees
and members of our board of directors:

For the Three Months Ended For the Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Risk-free interest rate 1.6% 0.7% 1.3% 0.7%
Expected life of options — years 4.78 4.71 411 4.71
Expected stock price volatility 40% 48% 36% 48%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0%

There were no options granted to third partiesrdutine three and six months ended June 30, 2012G&®l We do not intend to p:
regular dividends on our common stock. Accordingig dividend yield percentage used in the BlackeBxs-Merton option value is zero for
all periods.

19




Table of Contents
SIRIUS XM HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Contin ued
(UNAUDITED)
(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stad)

The following table summarizes stock option acgivinder our share-based plans for the six monttiecedune 30, 2014 (options in
thousands):

Weighted- Weighted-Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Term Intrinsic
Options Price (Years) Value
Outstanding as of December 31, 2013 264,23¢ $ 2.4z
Granted 5441  $ 3.5¢
Exercised (11,569 $ 1.7C
Forfeited, cancelled or expired (5,910 $ 4.4C
Outstanding as of June 30, 2014 252,20 $ 2.44 6.83 $ 299,83:
Exercisable as of June 30, 2014 104,11° $ 2.1t 496 $ 168,91°

The weighted average grant date fair value of ogtgranted during the six months ended June 3@ 26d 2013 was $1.09 and
$1.34 , respectively. The total intrinsic valuestiick options exercised during the six months erddeg 30, 2014 and 2013 was $20,435 and
$33,660 , respectively. During the six months endlate 30, 2014 , the number of shares which wetetsas a result of stock option
exercises was 3,835,837 .

We recognized share-based payment expense assawittiestock options of $16,193 and $15,283 forttiree months ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and $32808529,801 for the six months ended June 30, 28d4013 , respectively.

The following table summarizes the nonvested r&stli stock unit activity under our share-basedgfanthe six months ended
June 30, 2014 (shares in thousands):

Grant Date Fair

Shares Value
Nonvested as of December 31, 2013 6,98¢ $ 3.5¢
Granted 27¢ % 3.7C
Vested restricted stock units — 3 =
Forfeited (12¢) $ 3.61
Nonvested as of June 30, 2014 7,128 g 3.5¢

The weighted average grant date fair value ofimstt stock units granted during the six monthseeniline 30, 2014 and 2013 was
$3.70 and $3.30 , respectively. The total intringitue of restricted stock units that vested dutirgsix months ended June 30, 2013 was
$605 . We recognized share-based payment expesseiaed with restricted stock units of $1,594 &§Rdl1 during the three months ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and $3,8d%$211 during the six months ended June 30, 26d£2613 , respectively.

Total unrecognized compensation costs related vesiad share-based payment awards for stock optiestsicted stock units and
shares granted to employees and members of outt bbdirectors at June 30, 2014 and December 313 20et of estimated forfeitures, wi
$131,608 and $164,292 , respectively. The totademgnized compensation costs at June 30, 2014&peeted to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 2.5 years.

401(k) Savings Plan

Sirius XM sponsors the Sirius XM Radio Inc. 4018gvings Plan (the “Sirius XM Planfyr eligible employees. The Sirius XM Pl
allows eligible employees to voluntarily contribdtem 1% to 50% of their pre-tax eligible earningsbject to certain defined limits. We
match 50% of an employee’s voluntary contributipaes pay period on the first 6% of an employee’stpsesalary up to a maximum of 3% of
eligible compensation. Employer matching contribng under the Sirius XM Plan vest at a rate of 3% 3or each year of employment and
are fully vested after three years of employmentfbcurrent and future contributions. BeginnimgJanuary 2014, our cash employer
matching contributions are no longer used to pwseha
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shares of our common stock on the open marketssititee employee elects our common stock as thaisiment option for this contribution.
Prior to January 2014, the cash from employer niagctontributions was used to purchase sharesraf@umon stock on the open market.
We contributed $1,254 and $968 during the threethmended June 30, 2014 and 2013 , respectivedy$ai33 and $2,387 , during the six
months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respecttoetye Sirius XM Plan in fulfillment of our matetg obligation.

(16) Commitments and Contingencie

The following table summarizes our expected comfiglacash commitments as of June 30, 2014 :

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter Total

Debt obligations $ 506,03 $ 7,48. $ 4,265 $ 92¢ $ 78 $ 4,150,000 $ 4,668,79
Cash interest payments 105,89: 232,17( 231,95: 232,56! 228,06: 939,81 1,970,45
Satellite and transmission 15,63( 17,97¢ 4,32¢ 3,40¢ 3,99¢ 16,64¢ 61,97¢
Programming and content 121,49 226,27 105,12: 74,72 60,15( 108,33: 696,08¢
Marketing and distribution 13,16¢ 18,53¢ 10,60t 7,07(C 6,22¢ 6,707 62,31:
Satellite incentive payments 6,01¢ 11,51 12,361 13,29¢ 14,30: 54,17¢ 111,67.
Operating lease obligations 19,13( 46,26: 39,83: 33,41¢ 31,46¢ 225,54( 395,64!
Other 46,46( 16,37¢ 5,851 1,807 1,04C 26E 71,80z

Total (1) $ 83383 $ 57658t $ 41431t $ 367,20t $ 34531¢ $ 5501,48 $ 8,038,74
Q) The table does not include our reserve foedain tax positions, which at June 30, 2014 tdt&le,432, as the specific timing of any cash paym:

cannot be projected with reasonable certainty.
Debt obligations.  Debt obligations include principal payments on tartding debt and capital lease obligations.
Cashinterest payments. Cash interest payments include interest due ortamding debt and capital lease payments throughritat

Satelliteand transmission.  We have entered into agreements with third partieperate and maintain the off-site satellitertedtry,
tracking and control facilities and certain compatseof our terrestrial repeater networks.

Programming and content. We have entered into various programming agreeméniger the terms of these agreements, our
obligations include fixed payments, advertising atitments and revenue sharing arrangements. Ouefodéwenue sharing costs are
dependent upon many factors and are difficult torede; therefore, they are not included in ourimum contractual cash commitments.

Marketing and distribution.  We have entered into various marketing, sponsoi@hipdistribution agreements to promote our brand
and are obligated to make payments to sponsosgslerst automakers and radio manufacturers unésethgreements. Certain programming
and content agreements also require us to pureth@estising on properties owned or controlled lyy/ltbensors. We also reimburse
automakers for certain engineering and developmests associated with the incorporation of sagethidios into new vehicles they
manufacture. In addition, in the event certain peaducts are not shipped by a distributor to itst@mers within 90 days of the distributor’s
receipt of goods, we have agreed to purchase &aditke to the product.

Satellite incentive payments.  Boeing Satellite Systems International, Inc., thenofacturer of certain of our in-orbit satellitesay be
entitled to future in-orbit performance paymentthwespect to XM-3 and XM-4 based on the expectetating performance exceeding their
fifteen -year design life. Boeing may also be éetdito an additional $10,000 if our XM-4 satellif@ntinues to operate above baseline
specifications during the five years beyond thelitt's fifteen -year design life.

Space Systems/Loral, the manufacturer of certasuofn-orbit satellites, may be entitled to futimeorbit performance payments with
respect to XM-5, FM-5 and FM-6 based on their eig@operating performance exceeding their fiftgarar design life.
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Operating lease obligations.  We have entered into both cancelable and non-calpleebperating leases for office space, equipment
and terrestrial repeaters. These leases provideifomum lease payments, additional operating espeharges, leasehold improvements and
rent escalations that have initial terms rangiogrfione to fifteen years, and certain leases hatienspto renew. The effect of the rent
holidays and rent concessions are recognized traiglg-line basis over the lease term, includiegsonably assured renewal periods.

Other. We have entered into various agreements with frarties for general operating purposes. In additatihe minimum
contractual cash commitments described above, we é@tered into agreements with other variable @oangements. These future costs are
dependent upon many factors, including subscrib@wth, and are difficult to anticipate; howevereske costs may be substantial. We may
enter into additional programming, distribution,rieting and other agreements that contain siméaiable cost provisions. The cost of
treasury stock acquired from a third-party finahtiatitution but not paid as of June 30, 2014iduded in this category.

We do not have any other significant off-balanceestiinancing arrangements that are reasonablly likehave a material effect on our
financial condition, results of operations, ligwydicapital expenditures or capital resources.

Legal Proceedings

Sate Consumer Investigations . A Multistate Working Group of 32 State Attornegeneral, led by the Attorney General of the State
of Ohio, is investigating certain of our consumseagices. The investigation focuses on practicking to the cancellation of subscriptions;
automatic renewal of subscriptions; charging, fglicollecting, and refunding or crediting of paytsefrom consumers; and soliciting
customers.

A separate investigation into our consumer prastisdeing conducted by the Attorneys General ®fState of Florida and the State
of New York. We are cooperating with these investiions and believe our consumer practices comply &li applicable federal and state
laws and regulations.

In our opinion, the result of these investigatidns|uding a possible settlement, will likely naive a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operadi

Other Matters. In the ordinary course of business, we are andigliet in various other lawsuits and arbitrationcgexlings, including
derivative actions; actions filed by subscribethton behalf of themselves and on a class actisispformer employees; parties to contracts
or leases; and owners of patents, trademarks, ighpigror other intellectual property. None of thesaters, in our opinion, is likely to have a
material adverse effect on our business, finargatition or results of operations.

a7) Income Taxe:

We file a consolidated federal income tax retumafibof our wholly-owned subsidiaries, includin@iBs XM. Income tax expense
for the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2@$386,822 and $76,659 , respectively, and $1636d3%155,699 , for the six months
ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 , respectively. Vifaastour annual effective tax rate for the yeatimg December 31, 2014 will be 39.0% .
Our effective tax rate for the six months endededd®, 2014 was 43.3% due to the impact of thedoghe change in fair value of the
derivative related to the share repurchase agreemen

As of June 30, 2014 , there remained a valuatilmwahce related to deferred tax assets of $7,6809uhkre not likely to be realized
due to certain state net operating loss limitatiamd acquired net operating losses that we werennog likely than not going to utilize.

Liberty Media's increase in ownership in us to dd@% of our outstanding common stock in JanuanB2{id not create a change of
control under Section 382 of the Internal RevenadeC
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(18) Subsequent Event

Sock Repurchase Program

For the period from July 1, 2014 to July 25, 20, repurchased 35,000,000 shares of our commok &ipan aggregate purchase
price of $120,018 , including fees and commissionsthe open market.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(All dollar amounts referenced in this Item 2 are in thousands, unless otherwise stated)

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations shoulddsedrin conjunction with our
unaudited consolidated financial statements aradeéInotes included elsewhere in this QuarterlyoRegn Form 10-Q.

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The following cautionary statements identify img@ort factors that could cause our actual resultifter materially from those
projected in forward-looking statements made is Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in other repantd documents published by us from
time to time. Any statements about our beliefsngjabjectives, expectations, assumptions, futueats or performance are not historical
facts and may be forward-looking. These statemamt®ften, but not always, made through the useoodis or phrases such as “will likely
result,” “are expected to,” “will continue,” “is #éinipated,” “estimated,” “intend,” “plan,” “proje@n” and “outlook.” Any forward-looking
statements are qualified in their entirety by refiee to the factors discussed throughout this @giReport on Form 10-Q and in other
reports and documents published by us from tinterte, particularly the risk factors described untiisk Factors” in Part |, Item 1A of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddzam31, 2013 and “Management’s Discussion and Asmalyf Financial Condition and
Results or Operations” herein and in Part Il, It2of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeadeth December 31, 2013 .

Among the significant factors that could causeamtual results to differ materially from those eegsed in the forward-looking
statements are:

» we face substantial competition and that compaetitidikely to increase over tirr

* our ability to attract and retain subscribers ia filture is uncertai

* our business depends in large part upon the adtwsiry

» general economic conditions can affect our busij

» failure of our satellites would significantly daneagur busines

e interruption or failure of our information techngpand communications systems could negatively anhpar results and our brai

« if we fail to protect the security of personafdrmation about our customers, we could be sulijecbstly government enforcement
actions and private litigation and our reputationld suffer;

« royalties for music rights have increased and tikarebe no assurance they will not continue toeiase in the futur

» the unfavorable outcome of pending or future ltiigga could have a material adverse efi

e we may not realize the benefits of acquisitionsther strategic initiatives, including the aagtibn of Agero’s connected vehicle
business;

» rapid technological and industry changes could esslg impact our service

» failure of third parties to perform could adversaffect our busines

» changes in consumer protection laws and their eafoent could damage our busin

» failure to comply with FCC requirements could dasagr busines

» other existing or future government laws and refiprid could harm our busine

« we may from time to time modify our business plamd these changes could adversely affect us anfihamcial conditior

« ourindebtedness could adversely affect our ogmratand could limit our ability to react to changethe economy or our indust

e our broadcast studios, terrestrial repeater oidsy satellite uplink facilities or other grouratflities could be damaged by natural
catastrophes or terrorist activities;

e our principal stockholder has significant infhee over our management and over actions requiengral stockholder approval and
its interests may differ from the interests of ethelders of our common stock;

e we are a “controlled company” within the meanoighe NASDAQ listing rules and, as a result, éfydbr, and rely on, exemptions
from certain corporate governance requirements; and

* our business may be impaired by thixakty intellectual property righ

Because the risk factors referred to above couldeactual results or outcomes to differ materi@atiyn those expressed in any
forward-looking statements made by us or on ouabigiou should not place undue reliance on arthe$e forward-looking statements. In
addition, any forward-looking statement speaks @asipf the date on which it is made, and we

24




Table of Contents

undertake no obligation to update any forward-lagkstatement or statements to reflect events onmistances after the date on which the
statement is made, to reflect the occurrence afitizipated events or otherwise, except as requiyeldw. New factors emerge from time to
time, and it is not possible for us to predict whigill arise or to assess with any precision thpant of each factor on our business or the
extent to which any factor, or combination of fastanay cause actual results to differ materiathyrf those contained in any forward-looking
statements.

Executive Summary

We broadcast music, sports, entertainment, contatky,news, traffic and weather channels, as welhfotainment services, in the
United States on a subscription fee basis throughveo proprietary satellite radio systems. Suliiss can also receive music and other
channels, plus features such as SiriusXM On DeraaddVlySXM, over the Internet, including through bggtions for mobile devices. We
are also a leader in providing connected vehicfgdiegtions and services. Our connected vehicleicesvare designed to enhance the safety,
security and driving experience for vehicle ownghsle providing marketing and operational benefit@utomakers and their dealers.
Subscribers to our connected vehicle servicesa@raaluded in our subscriber count.

We have agreements with every major automaker (“@Ekbd offer satellite radios in their vehiclesimovhich we acquire a
majority of our subscribers. We also acquire subecs through marketing to owners of factory-irsthlsatellite radios that are not currently
subscribing to our services. Additionally, we distite our satellite radios through retail locatioragionwide and through our website. Sate
radio services are also offered to customers dgairedaily rental car companies.

As of June 30, 2014 , we had 26,301,581 subscrifeshich 21,635,008 were self-pay subscribers4666,573 were paid
promotional subscribers. Our subscriber totalsuidelsubscribers under our regular pricing plarsgalinted pricing plans; subscribers that
have prepaid, including payments either made orfidue automakers for subscriptions included inghke or lease price of a vehicle;
subscribers to our Internet services who do nat ladere satellite radio subscriptions; and certabssribers to our weather, traffic, data and
Backseat TV services.

Our primary source of revenue is subscription faéh most of our customers subscribing on an ahsgani-annual, quarterly or
monthly basis. We offer discounts for prepaid amthjer term subscription plans as well as discofantshultiple subscriptions. We also
derive revenue from activation and other feesstie of advertising on select non-music channleésdirect sale of satellite radios and
accessories, and other ancillary services, suduaweather, traffic, data and Backseat TV services

In certain cases, automakers and dealers inclsdéscription to our radio services in the saleeasé price of new vehicles or
previously owned vehicles. The length of thesd sudscriptions varies but is typically three teetwe months. We receive subscription
payments for these trials from certain automakéts.also reimburse various automakers for certastscassociated with satellite radios
installed in new vehicles.

Liberty Media Corporation ("Liberty Media") benefidly owns, directly and indirectly, over 50% oftloutstanding shares of our
common stock. As a result, we are a "controlled mamy" for the purposes of the NASDAQ corporate gnagece requirements. Liberty
Media owns interests in a broad range of media,nconications and entertainment businesses, inclutirspubsidiaries, Atlanta National
League Baseball Club, Inc. and TruePosition, limerests in Charter Communications, Live Natiod amnority equity investments in Time
Warner Inc., Time Warner Cable, and Viacom.

We also have a 37% equity interest in Sirius XM &imwhich offers satellite radio services in Can&ddoscribers to the Sirius XM
Canada service are not included in our subscribentc
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Results of Operations

Set forth below are our results of operations fierthree and six months ended June 30, 2014 cothpéitethe three and six months
ended June 30, 2013 .

Unaudited 2014 vs 2013 Change 2014 vs 2013 Change
For the Three Months Ended For the Six Months Ended June
June 30, 30, Three Months Six Months
(in thousands) 2014 2013 2014 2013 Amount % Amount %
Revenue:
Subscriber revenue $ 878,160 $ 814,71t $ 1,729,59 $ 1,598,060 $ 63,44: 8% $ 131,53¢ 8%
Advertising revenue 25,49¢ 21,75 47,71 41,96¢ 3,741 17 % 5,74¢ 14 %
Equipment revenue 27,61¢ 18,44: 51,59 36,59¢ 9,17: 50 % 14,99¢ 41%
Other revenue 104,07: 85,19: 204,15« 160,88: 18,87¢ 22% 43,27: 27 %
Total revenue 1,035,34! 940,11( 2,033,05! 1,837,50: 95,23¢ 10% 195,54¢ 11%
Operating expenses:
Cost of services:
Revenue share and
royalties 200,22: 155,85¢ 395,63: 304,39( 44,36: 28 % 91,24: 30%
Programming and
content 69,57( 70,38 144,44 144,99: (811 (D)% (557) 0%
Customer service and
billing 90,09: 80,29( 181,16 160,68 9,80z 12% 20,477 13%
Satellite and
transmission 21,27: 19,49: 42,65 39,18¢ 1,77¢ 9% 3,46: 9%
Cost of equipment 12,03( 5,442 19,83« 12,46¢ 6,58¢ 121 % 7,36¢ 59 %
Subscriber acquisition costs 124,40 129,99: 247,42¢ 246,10: (5,585 (4)% 1,32¢ 1%
Sales and marketing 77,75¢ 68,05¢ 154,08t 133,95¢ 9,701 14 % 20,13( 15%
Engineering, design and
development 15,63( 15,05: 31,54: 29,89 57¢ 4% 1,647 6 %
General and administrative 72,58: 60,39: 148,82! 116,73: 12,19( 20% 32,09: 27 %
Depreciation and
amortization 67,20« 67,41¢ 135,47 134,43: (213 0% 1,03¢ 1%
Total operating expenses 750,76 672,37: 1,501,071 1,322,841 78,39: 12 % 178,23( 13 %
Income from operations 284,57t 267,73t 531,98t 514,66¢ 16,84: 6 % 17,31¢ 3%

Other income (expense):

Interest expense, net of
amounts capitalized (67,52) (49,72%) (121,61 (95,909 (17,799 (36)% (25,71) 27%

Loss on extinguishment ¢
debt and credit facilities,

net — (16,377 — (16,37 16,371 10C % 16,377 10C %

Interest and investment

(loss) income (1,066 294 3,28¢ 1,932 (1,360 (469% 1,351 70%

Loss on change in value

derivatives (7,467) — (34,485 — (7,469 (100% (34,485 (100)%

Other (loss) income (1,745 25€ (1,652 502 (2,007 (782)% (2,159 (429%
Total other expense (77,799 (65,55%) (154,46°) (109,84 (12,240 (19% (44,62) (41)%
Income before income taxes 206,78: 202,18: 377,51¢ 404,82: 4,60z 2% (27,309 (7%
Income tax expense (86,827 (76,659 (163,57() (155,699 (10,169 (13)% (7,879) (5)%
Net income $ 119,96: $ 12552: $ 213,94¢ $ 249,120 $ (5,56)) % $ (35179 (14)%
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Our results of operations discussed below includassXM Connected Vehicle Services Inc. activityd014, as well as the impact
of purchase price accounting adjustments assoardtadhe July 2008 merger between our wholly owsebsidiary, Vernon Merger
Corporation, and XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inthe( "Merger"). The purchase price accounting adjests related to the Merger, include
the: (i) elimination of deferred revenue associat@ti the investment in XM Canada, (ii) recognitiohdeferred subscriber revenues not
recognized in purchase price accounting, anddiihination of the benefit of deferred credits o®eutory contracts, which are primarily
attributable to third party arrangements with arlMD&nd programming providers. The deferred creditexecutory contracts attributable to
third party arrangements with an OEM included weraue share and royalties, subscriber acquisitisiscand sales and marketing conclu
with the expiration of the acquired contract durii 3. The impact of these purchase price accayatijustments is detailed in our Adjusted
Revenues and Operating Expenses tables on pages8dgh 44 of our glossary.

Total Revenue
Subscriber Revenue includes subscription, activation and other fees.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 20k8c¢riber revenue was $878,160 and $814,718eategly, an increase of 8%
or $63,442 . For the six months ended June 30, 264013, subscriber revenue was $1,729,596 ab8&060 , respectively, an
increase of 8% , or $131,536 . The increases wareagly attributable to increases in the daily gigied average number of
subscribers, the inclusion of subscription revegeigerated by our connected vehicle business anddrease in certain of our
subscription rates beginning in January 2014. Tireseases were partially offset by an increasimgier of lifetime subscription
plans that have reached full revenue recognitiehaachange in an agreement with an automaker.

We expect subscriber revenues to increase basttk @rowth of our subscriber base, including coteweehicle subscribers,
changes in our subscription rates and the salddifianal services to subscribers.

Advertising Revenue includes the sale of advertising on certain nonimeisannels.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2048rtising revenue was $25,498 and $21,757 , cdsply, an increase of 17%
or $3,741 . For the six months ended June 30, 28842013, advertising revenue was $47,712 and 681, &spectivelyan increas
of 14% , or $5,744 . The increase was primarily thue greater number of advertising spots soldmoddcast.

We expect our advertising revenue to grow as mdverdisers are attracted to our national platfora growing subscriber base and
as we launch additional non-music channels.

Equipment Revenue includes revenue and royalties from the sale @l#atradios, components and accessories.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2qL§ment revenue was $27,616 and $18,443 , résplgctan increase of 50% |,
or $9,173 . For the six months ended June 30, 2884013, equipment revenue was $51,594 and $36r888ectively, an increase
of 41% , or $14,995 . The increase was driven ghéui sales to distributors and royalties from OEldpiction, partially offset by
lower per unit revenue on direct to consumer sales.

We expect equipment revenue to increase based dhpd&duction for which we receive royalty paymefasour technology and,
to a lesser extent, on the volume of equipmensdaleur aftermarket and direct to consumer busines

Other Revenue includes amounts earned from subscribers for ti%e Music Royalty Fee, revenue from our Canadiaitia#f and
ancillary revenues.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2€1&}, revenue was $104,071 and $85,192 , respbgtareincrease of 22% , or
$18,879 . For the six months ended June 30, 20d2ab3, other revenue was $204,154 and $160,&&bectively, an increase of
27% , or $43,273 . The increase was driven by neeefrom the U.S. Music Royalty Fee as the numbsulscribers subject to the
12.5% rate increased along with an increase incsiliess.

We expect other revenue to increase as our subsdritse drives higher U.S. Music Royalty Fees arntti@revenue of our Canadian
affiliate grows.
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Operating Expenses

Revenue Share and Royalties include distribution and content provider revenhars, royalties for broadcasting performance cdnten
and web streaming, and advertising revenue share.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 28dehue share and royalties were $200,221 and 88%5 respectively, an
increase of 28% , or $44,362 , and increased ascaptage of total revenue. For the six monthseéddae 30, 2014 and 2013,
revenue share and royalties were $395,632 and 3304 respectively, an increase of 30% , or $91,24# increased as a
percentage of total revenue. For the three anthsixths endedune 30, 2013, revenue share and royalties wasvabgimpacted b
benefits of $40,831 and $80,592 , respectivelgamings from the amortization of deferred credit®xecutory contracts. The
remainder of the increases were due, in part,éatgr revenues subject to royalty and revenuergharrangements and a 5.6%
increase in the statutory royalty rate for the perfance of sound recordings.

We expect our revenue share and royalty costtedse as our revenues grow, our royalty ratesaserand as a result of the
discontinued deferred credits on executory cordrassociated with the Merger.

Programming and Content includes costs to acquire, create, promote andugedontent. We have entered into various agre@ment
with third parties for music and non-music prograimgrthat require us to pay license fees and otireruats.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and pfdgamming and content expenses were $69,570 &n8&L , respectively, a
decrease of 1%, or $811 , and decreased as antsgeeof total revenue. For the six months ended 30, 2014 and 2013,
programming and content expenses were $144,448544991 , respectively, a decrease of less tharol %551 , and decreased as
a percentage of total revenue. The decreases wiararpy due to the renewal of certain agreemenhta@re cost effective terms,
partially offset by a reduction in the benefit erings from the purchase price accounting adjustsnessociated with the Merger.

We expect our programming and content expensdsduate as we offer additional programming, anteve or replace expiring
agreements.

Customer Service and Billing includes costs associated with the operation anthgement of internal and third party customer
service centers, and our subscriber managemewinsysts well as billing and collection costs, tratiea fees and bad debt expense.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 20&®mer service and billing expenses were $90a0@2$80,290 , respectively,
an increase of 12% , or $9,802 , but remainedaBiat percentage of total revenue. For the six nsagriled June 30, 2014 and 2013,
customer service and billing expenses were $181ah61$160,684 , respectively, an increase of 188420,477 , but remained flat
as a percentage of total revenue. These increasesprimarily due to the inclusion of costs assedavith our connected vehicle
services business and higher subscriber voluméndriicreased subscriber contacts.

We expect our customer service and billing expetsé@rease as our subscriber base grows and aftevept to improve the
customer service experience for our subscribers.

Satellite and Transmission consists of costs associated with the operatiomaaidtenance of our terrestrial repeater networks;
satellites; satellite telemetry, tracking and cohslystems; satellite uplink facilities; broadcsitdios; and delivery of our Internet streaming
service.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 28t8lite and transmission expenses were $21,20 359,493 , respectively, an
increase of 9% , or $1,779 , but remained flat peraentage of total revenue. For the six montide@dune 30, 2014 and 2013,
satellite and transmission expenses were $42,66$29,188 , respectively, an increase of 9% , o463, but remained flat as a
percentage of total revenue. These increases wienandy due to increased satellite insurance espeand costs associated with our
Internet streaming operations.

We expect overall satellite and transmission exgens remain relatively unchanged as decreasedetiite insurance and Internet-
based service costs are offset by increases isteal repeater network and personnel costs.

28




Table of Contents

Cost of Equipment includes costs from the sale of satellite radiospgonents and accessories and provisions for ioweatlowance
attributable to products purchased for resale indinect to consumer distribution channels.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 20648of equipment was $12,030 and $5,442 , reyedgtian increase of 121% ,
or $6,588 , and increased as a percentage of egonimevenue. For the six months ended June 30, 28d 2013, cost of equipment
was $19,834 and $12,469 , respectively, an increb58% , or $7,365 , and increased as a percenfagguipment revenue. These
increases were primarily due to higher sales twidigors, partially offset by lower costs per uait direct to consumer sales.

We expect cost of equipment to fluctuate with cleanig sales and inventory valuations.

Subscriber Acquisition Costs include hardware subsidies paid to radio manufacsudistributors and automakers; subsidies paid fo
chip sets and certain other components used in faetowing radios; device royalties for certain waland chip sets; commissions paid to
automakers and retailers; product warranty obligesj freight; and provisions for inventory allowasattributable to inventory consumed in
our OEM and retail distribution channels. The migjoof subscriber acquisition costs are incurred arpensed in advance of, or concurrent
with, acquiring a subscriber. Subscriber acquisitiosts do not include advertising, marketing, ligypayments to distributors and dealers of
satellite radios or revenue share payments to akers and retailers of satellite radios.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 20k8c¢riber acquisition costs were $124,407 and 8929 respectively, a
decrease of 4% , or $5,585 , and decreased asengege of total revenue. For the six months edded 30, 2014 and 2013,
subscriber acquisition costs were $247,429 and $P36 respectively, an increase of 1% , or $1,32@ decreased as a percentage
of total revenue. Improved OEM subsidy rates péiicle and a change in a contract with an automd&ereased subscriber
acquisition costs. In the second quarter of 20ie&se decreases were partially offset by the elitioinaf the benefit to earnings in
2014 from the amortization of deferred credits gaceitory contracts initially recognized in purchasiee accounting associated v
the Merger and increased satellite radio instaltegiin new vehicles. For the six month period,dimrtization of the deferred crec
and increased satellite radio installations weghtl greater than the decreases provided fronirtipgoved OEM subsidy rates and
change in the contract with an automaker. Forhiheetand six months ended June 30, 2013, the bémetirnings from amortizatic
of deferred credits were $22,017 and $44,022 e@sely.

We expect subscriber acquisition costs to fluctwate OEM installations and aftermarket volume; lewar, the cost of subsidized
radio components are expected to decline. Wednteicontinue to offer subsidies, commissions ahérmincentives to acquire
subscribers.

Sales and Marketing includes costs for customer acquisition and redpentdvertising, media and production, includingnpotional
events and sponsorships; cooperative marketingparsbnnel. Customer acquisition and retentionsdostude expenses related to direct
mail, outbound telemarketing and email communicegio

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 283 and marketing expenses were $77,759 and388t8spectively, an
increase of 14% , or $9,701 , and increased ascameage of total revenue. For the six months eddee 30, 2014 and 2013, sales
and marketing expenses were $154,086 and $133j@5fectively, an increase of 15% , or $20,130l,increase@s a percentage
total revenue. These increases were primarily daaltitional subscriber communications and reterpimgrams associated with a
greater number of subscribers and promotionaktr@ists associated with our connected vehiclécgsrbusiness, and the
elimination of the benefit to earnings in 2014 fridme amortization of the deferred credit for acgdiexecutory contracts recognized
in purchase price accounting associated with thegste The benefits to earnings from the amortizatibthe deferred credit for
acquired executory contracts for the three ananginths ended June 30, 2013 were $4,153 and $8r@%pectively.

We anticipate that sales and marketing expenséimwatitase as we expand programs to retain outigisubscribers, win back
former subscribers, and attract new subscribers.
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Engineering, Design and Development consists primarily of compensation and relatedsctistievelop chip sets and new products
services, research and development for broaddastriation systems and costs associated with theiocation of our radios into new
vehicles manufactured by automakers.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2@Bieering, design and development expenses Wé&ré3 and $15,052 ,
respectively, an increase of 4% , or $578 , butaiaed flat as a percentage of total revenue. Fosithmonths ended June 30, 2014
and 2013, engineering, design and development srgenmere $31,541 and $29,894 , respectively, anase of 6% , or $1,647 , but
remained flat as a percentage of total revenues& mereases were driven primarily by costs astetiaith our connected vehicle
services business, higher product development,castsexpenses related to the development of erasubscriber features and
functionality for our service.

We expect engineering, design and development eggen increase in future periods as we continaevelop our products and
services.

General and Administrative primarily consists of compensation and relatedsc@mt personnel and facilities, and include costated
to our finance, legal, human resources and infdomaéechnologies departments.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and geh&ral and administrative expenses were $72,58%60,392 , respectively, an
increase of 20% or $12,190 , and increased ascamege of total revenue. For the six months edded 30, 2014nd 2013, gener
and administrative expenses were $148,825 and $32 6 respectively, an increase of 27% or $32,0881,increased as a
percentage of total revenue. These increases wienardy driven by costs associated with our corteda/ehicle services business
well as higher legal, personnel, consulting andlifes costs.

We expect our general and administrative expemsigtease in future periods as a result of, anaihgr things, enhanced
information technology, on-going legal costs andspenel costs to support the growth of our business

Depreciation and Amortization represents the recognition in earnings of the aitipm cost of assets used in operations, includim
satellite constellations, property, equipment aridrigible assets, over their estimated servics.live

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and @ep8zciation and amortization expense was $67,80467,415 , respectively, a
decrease of less than 1%, or $211 , and decreasegexcentage of total revenue. For the six marbded June 30, 2014 and 2013,
depreciation and amortization expense was $1354d1$134,433 , respectively, an increase of 1%%1¢038 , but decreased as a
percentage of total revenue. Decreased depreciatidramortization expense was driven by a redudi@mortization associated
with the stepped-up basis in assets acquired iM#rger (including intangible assets, satellitesperty and equipment) through the
end of their estimated service lives and certaielli®s reaching the end of their estimated serlies. These decreases were offset
by the inclusion of costs associated with our catetkvehicle services business, and additionataptsced inservice, including ot
FM-6 satellite.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest Expense, Net of Amounts Capitalized, includes interest on outstanding debt, reducedtsyest capitalized in connection with
the construction of satellites and related launshiacles.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and #0&8:st expense was $67,521 and $49,728 , regelyctan increase of 36% , or
$17,793 . For the six months ended June 30, 2042613, interest expense was $121,613 and $95838pectively, an increase of
27% , or $25,711 . The increase was primarily dugigher average debt and a reduction in intergsitalized following the launch
of our FM-6 satellite. The increase was partiaffiget by lower average interest rates resultingnftbe redemption or repayment of
higher interest rate debt throughout 2013.

We expect interest expense to increase in fututiegeeto the extent our total debt outstandingenses.

Loss on Extinguishment of debt and Credit Facilities, Net, includes losses incurred as a result of the correend retirement of
certain debt.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2012@18, loss on extinguishment of debt and creditifies, net, was $0 and
$16,377 , respectively. During the three and sixithe ended June 30, 2013, a $16,377 loss was egtordthe partial repayment of
our then outstanding 7.625% Senior Notes due 2888a75% Senior Notes due 2015.
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Interest and Investment (Loss) Income includes realized gains and losses, interest incame: our share of the income or loss of S
XM Canada.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 , intenekinvestment loss was $1,066 compared to inadr294 for the same period
in 2013. For the six months ended June 30, 201288, interest and investment income was $3,2834r032 , respectively. The
loss for the three months ended June 30, 2014 uasodthe inclusion of our share of Sirius XM Caadadet loss. For the six mon
ended June 30, 2014, interest and investment ineaasegrimarily due to the inclusion of our share&afus XM Canada's net
income, and the conversion of the Canadian debemntato shares of Sirius XM Canada, partially dffsethe amortization expense
related to our equity method intangible assets.ifitezest and investment income for 2013 was ptilsndue to the inclusion of our
share of Sirius XM Canada'’s net income, partiaftgat by the amortization expense related to owitgagnethod intangible assets.

Loss on Change In Value of Derivatives represents the change in fair value of the comrmtmender the share repurchase agreemen
with Liberty Media, which are accounted for as ad#ive.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 20d#lgss on change in value of derivatives was@& ahd $34,485 , respectively.
The loss resulted from a change in the market vaflweir common stock to be purchased under theeslepurchase agreement with
Liberty Media. On April 25, 2014, we completed fival purchase installment under this share repase agreement and
repurchased $340,000 of our shares of common §toakLiberty Media at a price of $3.66 per share.

Income Taxes

Income Tax Expense includes the change in our deferred tax assetsigiowithholding taxes and current federal andestzt
expenses.

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and BGd8ne tax expense was $86,822 and $76,889pectively. For the three mor
ended June 30, 2014, we estimate our annual eféeietk rate for the year ended December 31, 201b&/B9.0% . For the six
months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, income taensgas $163,570 and $155,699 , respectivelyeflestive tax rate for the
six months ended June 30, 2014 was 43.3% due im{tect of the loss on the change in fair valuéhefderivative related to the
share repurchase agreement.

Key Operating Metrics

In this section, we present certain financial perfance measures that are not calculated and peglsienaccordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United Stgtdsn-GAAP"). These Non-GAAP financial measureslirde: average monthly revenue
per subscriber, or ARPU; customer service andhigiléxpenses, per average subscriber; subscribeisdimm cost, or SAC, per installation;
free cash flow; and adjusted EBITDA. These measexehide the impact of share-based payment ex@ertseertain purchase price
accounting adjustments related to the Merger, whiclude the: (i) elimination of deferred revengsaciated with the investment in XM
Canada, (ii) recognition of deferred subscribeermies not recognized in purchase price accourdimd(iii) elimination of the benefit of
deferred credits on executory contracts, whichpairearily attributable to third party arrangemewith an OEM and programming providers.
We use these Non-GAAP financial measures to maoagbusiness, to set operational goals and asisfoasletermining performandsaser
compensation for our employees.

Free cash flow is a metric that our managementaadd of directors use to evaluate the cash gestegt our operations, net of
capital expenditures and other investment actiVitya capital intensive business, with significeavestments in satellites, we look at our
operating cash flow, net of these investing cadfiaws, to determine cash available for future swiier acquisition and capital expenditut
to repurchase or retire debt, to acquire other @onigs and to evaluate our ability to return capdatockholders. We believe free cash flo
an indicator of the long-term financial stabilitiyaur business. Free cash flow, which is reconditetNet cash provided by operating
activities”, is a Non-GAAP financial measure. Thigasure can be calculated by deducting amounts timeleaptions "Additions to property
and equipment" and deducting or adding Restricheblcther investment activity from "Net cash prodd®y operating activities" from the
unaudited consolidated statements of cash flovee Eash flow should be used in conjunction witleptBAAP financial performance
measures and may not be comparable to free cashfelasures presented by other companies. Fredloasshould be viewed as a
supplemental measure rather than an alternativeuneaf cash flows from operating activities, aedained in accordance with GAAP. F
cash flow is limited and does not represent remgiciash flows available for discretionary expen@isudue to the fact that the measure does
not deduct the payments required for debt
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maturities. We believe free cash flow provides uksfipplemental information to investors regardiog current and projected cash flow,
along with other GAAP measures (such as cash ffows operating and investing activities), to deter@nour financial condition, and to
compare our operating performance to other comnatinits, entertainment and media companies.

We believe these Non-GAAP financial measures peuskful information to investors regarding ouafinial condition and results
of operations. We believe investors find these IEgWAP financial performance measures useful in eatéilg our core trends because it
provides a direct view of our underlying contrattasts. We believe investors use our current aopbpted adjusted EBITDA to estimate
current or prospective enterprise value and to nrakestment decisions. By providing these Non-GA#Rncial measures, together with the
reconciliations to the most directly comparable GAfeasure, we believe we are enhancing investmilststanding of our business and our
results of operations.

These Non-GAAP financial measures should be viewedldition to, and not as an alternative for greior to, our reported results
prepared in accordance with GAAP. In addition, ¢heen-GAAP financial measures may not be comparabdémilarly-titled measures by
other companies. Please refer to the glossary ¢pagéhrough 44 ) for a further discussion of sNam-GAAP financial measures and
reconciliations to the most directly comparable GAvheasure.

The following table contains our key operating nostbased on our adjusted results of operationghéothree and six months ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Subscribarartconnected vehicle services are not includemlir subscriber count:

Unaudited Unaudited
For the Three Months Ended June 30, For the Six Months Ended June 30,
(in thousands, except for subscriber, per subscriber and per
installation amounts) 2014 2013 2014 2013
Self-pay subscribers 21,635,00 20,297,73 21,635,00 20,297,73
Paid promotional subscribers 4,666,57 4,771,25 4,666,57. 4,771,25:
Ending subscribers 26,301,58 25,068,98 26,301,58 25,068,98
Self-pay subscribers 379,71: 423,07t 553,19: 727,46.
Paid promotional subscribers 95,76 292,68t 189,08 441,19(
Net additions 475,47, 715,76 742,27 1,168,65:
Daily weighted average number of subscribers 26,005,69 24,651,26 25,805,03 24,331,64
Average self-pay monthly churn 1.6% 1.7% 1.S% 1.8%
New vehicle consumer conversion rate 42% 45% 42% 44%
ARPU $ 12.3¢ $ 12.2¢ $ 12.27 $ 12.1¢
SAC, per installation $ 33 $ 47 $ 34 $ 47
Customer service and billing expenses, per average
subscriber $ 1.0¢ $ 1.0¢ $ 1.07 $ 1.0¢
Free cash flow $ 335,04« $ 236,56( $ 557,83: $ 379,04:
Adjusted EBITDA $ 370,43 $ 282,97¢ $ 705,22( $ 544,85(

Note: See pages 37 through 44 for glossary.

Subscribers. At June 30, 2014 , we had 26,301,581 subscribarscaease of 1,232,593 subscribers, or 5% , fioer26,068,988
subscribers as of June 30, 2013 .

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 28t3additions were 475,472 and 715,762 , respagtia decrease of 34% , or
240,290 . For the six months ended June 30, 20d42@13 , net additions were 742,271 and 1,168,868pectively, a decrease of
36% , or 426,381 . The decreases in self-pay rditiads were due to increased churn associatedauitarger subscriber base and
vehicle turnover, partially offset by higher consiens from trial subscriptions. The decreasesid promotional net additions were
due to lower growth in auto sales and a change fraith to unpaid trials under a contract with aromagker.

Average Self-pay Monthly Churn is derived by dividing the monthly average of qedfy deactivations for the period by the average
number of self-pay subscribers for the period. (@m®mpanying glossary on pages 37 through 44 foe metails.)

32




Table of Contents

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 20ir3ayerage self-pay monthly churn rate was 1.881a7% , respectively. For
the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 veuage self-pay monthly churn rate was 1.9% an#bl.Bspectively. These
increases for the three and six month periods weecto increased migrations of existing self-payssubers to unpaid vehicle trials.

New Vehicle Consumer Conversion Rateis the percentage of owners and lessees of newleshihat receive our service and convert
to become self-paying subscribers after an infiamotional period. The metric excludes rental it vehicles. (See accompanying
glossary on pages 37 through 44 for more details).

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 28éhew vehicle consumer conversion rate was 42948% , respectively. For
the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 elverahicle consumer conversion rate was 42% and 44%pectively. The
decrease in the new vehicle consumer conversierfeathe three and six month periods were primatile to an increased
penetration rate and lower conversion of first-tisaéellite enabled car buyers.

ARPU is derived from total earned subscriber revenuelugling revenue derived from our connected velselwices business, net
advertising revenue and other subscription-releggdnue, net of purchase price accounting adjugandivided by the number of months in
the period, divided by the daily weighted averagmhber of subscribers for the period. (For a red@imn to GAAP see the accompanying
glossary on pages 37 through 44 for more details.)

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 280R®U was $12.36 and $12.28 , respectively. Fosthenonths ended June 30,
2014 and 2013, ARPU was $12.27 and $12.16 , réspBc These increases were driven primarily by tontribution of the U.S.
Music Royalty Fee, and the impact of the increaseertain of our subscription rates beginning inuzay 2014. The positive result
was partially offset by growth in subscription disats offered through customer acquisition andté&ie programs, lifetime
subscription plans that have reached full revergegnition, and changes in contracts with an aukemand a rental car provider.

SAC, Per Installation, is derived from subscriber acquisition costs andgina from the sale of radios, components and goces,
excluding purchase price accounting adjustmentidelil by the number of satellite radio installaion new vehicles and shipments of
aftermarket radios for the period. (For a recoatidin to GAAP see the accompanying glossary onpagahrough 44 for more details.)

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 28A&, per installation, was $33 and $47 , respebtivFor the six months ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013, SAC, per installation, $&#sand $47 , respectively. These decreases wienargy due to improvements
in contractual OEM rates.

Customer Service and Billing Expenses, Per Average Subscriber, is derived from total customer service and billexgenses,
excluding connected vehicle customer service alliddpexpenses and share-based payment expensdediivy the number of months in the
period, divided by the daily weighted average numdfesubscribers for the period. (For a recondtiato GAAP see the accompanying
glossary on pages 37 through 44 for more details.)

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2fik¥amer service and billing expenses, per avesabscriber, were $1.05 and
$1.08 , respectively. For the six months ended 3002014 and 2013customer service and billing expenses, per aeesabscribe
were $1.07 and $1.09 , respectively. These desewsee primarily driven by lower rates for foreigased customer service agents
and lower call volume per subscriber.

Free Cash Flow includes the net cash provided by operations, mddito property and equipment, and restrictedathdr
investment activity. (For a reconciliation to GAABe the accompanying glossary on pages 37 throufdr #ore details.)

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 648 cash flow was $335,044 and $236,560 , res@dgtan increase of
$98,484 . For the six months ended June 30, 20d26ib3 , free cash flow was $557,833 and $379,0d4pectively, an increase of
$178,792 . These increases were primarily drivehiglier net cash provided by operating activitiesfimproved performance,
higher collections from subscribers and distribsit@nd a special one-time dividend from Sirius X&h@da, partially offset by
payments related to improvements to our terregijatater network and higher interest payments.
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Adjusted EBITDA. EBITDA is defined as net income before interest mvestment income (loss); interest expense, natafunts
capitalized; income tax benefit (expense) and dgatien and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA excludke impact of other income and
expense, losses on extinguishment of debt, loghange in value of derivatives as well as cert#ieiocharges, such as goodwill impairm:
certain purchase price accounting adjustments lakbased payment expense. (For a reconciliation to B&de the accompanying glos:
on pages 37 through 44 for more details.)

For the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2@dj@sted EBITDA was $370,437 and $282,979 , resmdy, an increase of
31% , or $87,458 . For the six months ended Jun@@D and 2013, adjusted EBITDA was $705,220 & B50, respectively, a
increase of 29% , or $160,370 . These increases deer to growth in adjusted revenues primarily uhe increase in our
subscriber base and certain of our subscripti@sratnproved revenue share and OEM subsidy rategepécle, the renewal of
certain programming and content agreements at nusteeffective terms, and the inclusion of the itesef our connected vehicle
services business; partially offset by higher legglenses and costs correlated to the growth imem@nues and subscriber base.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2014 compared with the six months ended June 30, 2013 .

As of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 , webh68,980 and $134,805 , respectively, of cash astl equivalents. The
following table presents a summary of our cash fémtivity for the periods set forth below:

For the Six Months Ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2014 vs. 2013
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 592,07 $ 442,022 $ 150,05:

Net cash used in investing activities (33,09Y) (62,980) 29,88t

Net cash used in financing activities (523,807 (248,21) (275,585
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 35,17¢ 130,82 (95,649
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 134,80! 520,94! (386,14()
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 16998 $ 651,76¢ $ (481,789

Cash Flows Provided by Operating Activities

Cash flows provided by operating activities inceshby $150,051 to $592,072 for the six months erddee 30, 2014 fror§442,02:
for the six months ended June 30, 2013 . Our laigmsgce of cash provided by operating activitieegenerated by subscription and
subscription-related revenues. We also generatefoas the sale of advertising on certain non-mgsiannels and the sale of satellite radios,
components and accessories. Our primary uses lofficaa operating activities include revenue shane yalty payments to distributors and
content providers, and payments to radio manufatudistributors and automakers. In addition, aéessh from operating activities inclu
payments to vendors to service, maintain and aeduibscribers, general corporate expendituresc@amgensation and related costs.

Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

Cash flows used in investing activities are prirtyadiie to additional spending to improve our temiakrepeater network and for
capitalized software, partially offset by the spdaine-time dividend received from our investmenSirius XM Canada of $24,178. We
expect to continue to incur significant costs t@iove our terrestrial repeater network and broadwad administrative infrastructure.

Cash Flows Used in Financing Activities
Cash flows used in financing activities consistshefissuance and repayment of long-term debt, egssti in our stock option
program and the purchase of common stock undestaare repurchase program. Proceeds from long-tebiy eelated party debt and equity

issuances have been used to fund our operatiofggiratche connected vehicle business of Agero, anstruct and launch new satellites and
invest in other infrastructure improvements.
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Cash flows used in financing activities in 2014 evprimarily due to the purchase of shares of oarron stock under our
repurchase program for $1,532,164 and repaymenisrihe Credit Facility. In 2014, we issued $1,800,aggregate principal amount of
6.00% Senior Notes due 2024. Cash flows used anéimg activities in 2013 were primarily due to thechase of shares of our common
stock under our share repurchase program for $6168and open market purchases of $29,013 of @58 Senior Notes due 2015 and
$100,650 of our 7.625% Senior Notes due 2018. i82@e issued $500,000 aggregate principal amdu©i?6% Senior Notes due 2020 and
$500,000 aggregate principal amount of 4.625% Sétites due 2023.

Future Liquidity and Capital Resource Requirements

Based upon our current business plans, we expéghtboperating expenses, capital expenditureskimgicapital requirements,
interest payments, taxes and scheduled maturitiesralebt with existing cash, cash flow from opienas and borrowings under our Credit
Facility. We believe that we have sufficient casll aash equivalents as well as debt capacity teroowr estimated short-term and long-term
funding needs, stock repurchases and strategicipyities.

Our ability to meet our debt and other obligatidepends on our future operating performance aretonomic, financial,
competitive and other factors. We continually rewigur operations for opportunities to adjust timeiig of expenditures to ensure that
sufficient resources are maintained.

We regularly evaluate our business plans and giyafithese evaluations often result in changes tdosiness plans and strategy,
some of which may be material and significantlyrd@our cash requirements. These changes in ouralssplans or strategy may include:
the acquisition of unique or compelling programmitige introduction of new features or servicesngigant new or enhanced distribution
arrangements; investments in infrastructure, ssctatellites, equipment or radio spectrum; andiaitiuns, including acquisitions that are
directly related to our satellite radio business.

Sock Repurchase Program

As of June 30, 2014 , our board of directors hgat@aped $4,000,00fbr repurchases of our common stock. In July 20@i4,board c
directors approved an additional $2,000,000 fourelpases of our common stock. Our board of direalad not establish an end date for this
stock repurchase program. Shares of common stoglomaurchased from time to time on the open makdtin privately negotiated
transactions, including transactions with Libertgdih and its affiliates.

On October 9, 2013, we entered into an agreemaepurchase $500,000 of our common stock fromriybdedia. Pursuant to
this agreement, we repurchased $160,000 of our ammstock from Liberty Media in 2013 . On April 25)14, we completed the final
purchase installment and repurchased 92,888,56&sb&our common stock for $340,000 from Libertgdia at a price of $3.66 per share.

In May 2014, we entered into an accelerated stegmarchase agreement ("ASR agreement") with a thartly financial institution to
repurchase up to $600,000 of our common stockeUtite ASR agreement we prepaid $600,000 totlaadial institution and received an
initial delivery of 112,500,000 shares of our conmstock. We retired these shares and recorded4¥Asreduction to stockholders' equity
in the second quarter of 2014. The remaining $2B6der this ASR agreement is included in Addaigraid-in capital within our
unaudited consolidated balance sheets as of Jyrg930 . The ASR agreement is expected to matutatanthan August 1, 2014 and will
settle following maturity. The aggregate purchasespwve will pay under the ASR agreement will béetimined using a pre-agreed grid that
references the volume-weighted average price (“VWAPour common stock, and the total aggregate Imemof shares to be repurchased
under the ASR agreement will be determined basati@iWAP of our common stock minus a discountmgithe term of the ASR
agreement.

During the six months ended June 30, 2014 , werchpsed 188,419,584 additional shares of our constamk for $612,903 ,
including fees and commissions, on the open ma@mthmon stock repurchases are retired upon settieys of June 30, 2014 , $20,739 of
common stock repurchases had not settled, norfetiesd, and were recorded as Treasury stock wibirunaudited consolidated balance
sheets and unaudited consolidated statementsastiolers’ equity.

As of June 30, 2014 , our cumulative repurchasesedDecember 2012 have totaled 914,066,011 shar&8,315,263 , and
$684,737 remained available under our stock re@seiprogram, which excludes the additional $2,@Dduthorized by our board of
directors in July 2014. We expect to fund futuneurehases through a combination of cash on hastl, generated by operations and future
borrowings.
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Debt Covenants
The indentures governing Sirius XM's senior notes the agreement governing Sirius XM's Credit Bgdihclude restrictive

covenants. As of June 30, 2014 , Sirius XM wasoimgliance with such indentures and agreement. Biscassion of our “Debt Covenants,
refer to Note 13 to our unaudited consolidatedrfaia statements in Item 1 of this Quarterly Reporf~orm 10-Q.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any significant off-balance shertrerements other than those disclosed in Note b@rtanaudited consolidated
financial statements in Item 1 of this QuarterlypBe on Form 10-Q that are reasonably likely toehavmaterial effect on our financial
condition, results of operations, liquidity, capgapenditures or capital resources.

Contractual Cash Commitments

For a discussion of our “Contractual Cash Commitisiemefer to Note 16 to our unaudited consoliddtadncial statements in ltem
1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Related Party Transactions

For a discussion of “Related Party Transactiorefgrrto Note 11 to our unaudited consolidated fof@rstatements in Item 1 of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
For a discussion of our "Critical Accounting Padisiand Estimates," refer to "Management's Discossid Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations" in our AnriRaport on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembePB13. There have been no mate

changes to our critical accounting policies andvestes since December 31, 2013 .
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Glossary

Adjusted EBITDA - EBITDA is defined as net income before interexl mvestment income (loss); interest expenseph@mounts
capitalized; income tax expense and depreciatidneamortization. We adjust EBITDA to exclude the auopof other income and
expense, loss on extinguishment of debt, loss anghin value of derivatives as well as certaireotharges discussed below. This
measure is one of the primary Non-GAAP financiabmees on which we (i) evaluate the performanaobusinesses, (ii) base our
internal budgets and (iii) compensate managematjuisted EBITDA is a Non-GAAP financial performanoeasure that excludes (if
applicable): (i) certain adjustments as a resuthefpurchase price accounting for the Mergerd@reciation and amortization and (iii)
share-based payment expense. The purchase primentiog adjustments include: (i) the eliminationdeferred revenue associated with
the investment in XM Canada, (ii) recognition ofeteed subscriber revenues not recognized in psepéace accounting, and (iii)
elimination of the benefit of deferred credits o®eutory contracts, which are primarily attribugbb third party arrangements with an
OEM and programming providers. We believe adju&BtrDA is a useful measure of the underlying trefidur operating
performance, which provides useful information abmur business apart from the costs associatedowitiphysical plant, capital
structure and purchase price accounting. We belrexestors find this Non-GAAP financial measurefuseshen analyzing our results
and comparing our operating performance to theopmidnce of other communications, entertainmentraedia companies. We believe
investors use current and projected adjusted EBIT®éstimate our current and prospective enterpasge and to make investment
decisions. Because we fund and build-out our $t&telidio system through the periodic raising axgeaditure of large amounts of
capital, our results of operations reflect sigrificcharges for depreciation expense. The excludidepreciation and amortization
expense is useful given significant variation ipeiation and amortization expense that can résuit the potential variations in
estimated useful lives, all of which can vary widatross different industries or among companig¢kimthe same industry. We also
believe the exclusion of share-based payment eggensseful given the significant variation in expe that can result from changes in
the fair value as determined using the Black-Scderton model which varies based on assumptioed fg the expected life,
expected stock price volatility and risk-free imtstrrates.

Adjusted EBITDA has certain limitations in thatites not take into account the impact to our statgsnof comprehensive income of
certain expenses, including share-based paymeshsgmnd certain purchase price accounting favilrger. We endeavor to
compensate for the limitations of the Non-GAAP meagresented by also providing the comparable GA¥eRsure with equal or
greater prominence and descriptions of the recogcilems, including quantifying such items, toiderthe Non-GAAP measure.
Investors that wish to compare and evaluate ouratipg results after giving effect for these costwuld refer to net income as
disclosed in our unaudited consolidated statenmantemprehensive income. Since adjusted EBITDAa-GAAP financial
performance measure, our calculation of adjusteli BB may be susceptible to varying calculationsymat be comparable to other
similarly titled measures of other companies; amalitd not be considered in isolation, as a sulistitar, or superior to measures of
financial performance prepared in accordance wi#AB. The reconciliation of net income to the adpesEBITDA is calculated as
follows (in thousands):
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Unaudited
For the Three Months Ended June
30, For the Six Months Ended June 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Net income (GAAP): $ 119,96: $ 12552 $ 213,94¢ $ 249,12
Add back items excluded from Adjusted EBITDA:
Purchase price accounting adjustments:
Revenues (see pages 39-42) 1,81: 1,81: 3,62¢ 3,62¢
Operating expenses (see pages 39-42) (94%) (69,479 (2,890 (137,889
Share-based payment expense (GAAP) 17,781 15,49« 36,02% 30,01
Depreciation and amortization (GAAP) 67,20« 67,41¢ 135,47: 134,43
Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized (GAAP) 67,52: 49,72¢ 121,61: 95,90:
Loss on extinguishment of debt and credit facgitieet (GAAP) — 16,371 — 16,371
Interest and investment loss (income) (GAAP) 1,06¢ (299) (3,289 (1,939
Loss on change in value of derivatives (GAAP) 7,46: — 34,48¢ —
Other loss (income) (GAAP) 1,74t (25€) 1,652 (502)
Income tax expense (GAAP) 86,82: 76,65¢ 163,57( 155,69¢
Adjusted EBITDA $ 37043 $ 28297¢ $ 70522( $ 544,85(

Adjusted Revenues and Operating Expensed/Ne define this Non-GAAP financial measure as otwaaevenues and operating expenses
adjusted to exclude the impact of certain purclpage accounting adjustments from the Merger ardlesbased payment expense. We use
this Non-GAAP financial measure to manage our legsnto set operational goals and as a basis temadaing performance-based
compensation for our employees. The following talkroncile our actual revenues and operating esgseto our adjusted revenues and
operating expenses for the three and six monthsdceddne 30, 2014 and 2013 :
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Unaudited For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2014

Purchase Price
Accounting

Allocation of Share-

(in thousands) As Reported Adjustments based Payment Expense Adjusted
Revenue:
Subscriber revenue 878,16( $ — % — % 878,16(
Advertising revenue 25,49¢ — — 25,49¢
Equipment revenue 27,61¢ — — 27,61¢
Other revenue 104,07: 1,81z — 105,88«
Total revenue 1,035,34! $ 181: $ — 8 1,037,15!
Operating expenses
Cost of services:
Revenue share and royalties 200,22: $ — 3 — 3 200,22:
Programming and content 69,57( 94t (2,259 68,26
Customer service and billing 90,09: — (587) 89,50¢
Satellite and transmission 21,27 — (95€) 20,31¢
Cost of equipment 12,03( — — 12,03(
Subscriber acquisition costs 124.,40° — — 124.,40°
Sales and marketing 77,75¢ — (3,407 74,35:
Engineering, design and development 15,63( — (1,937 13,69:
General and administrative 72,58: — (8,64¢) 63,93¢
Depreciation and amortization (a) 67,20« — — 67,20«
Share-based payment expense — — 17,78 17,781
Total operating expenses 750,767 $ 94t $ — 8 751,71:

(a) Purchase price accounting adjustments inclatbeste exclude the incremental depreciation and #mation associated with the $785,000
stepped up basis in property, equipment and intdegissets as a result of the Merger. The incredeeicbciation and amortization for the
three months ended June 30, 2014 was $10,000.
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Unaudited For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2013

Purchase Price
Accounting

Allocation of Share-

(in thousands) As Reported Adjustments based Payment Expense Adjusted
Revenue:
Subscriber revenue 814,71¢ — 8 — 814,71¢
Advertising revenue 21,75 — — 21,75
Equipment revenue 18,44: — — 18,44:
Other revenue 85,19: 1,81z — 87,00¢
Total revenue 940,11( 1,81: $ — 941,92:
Operating expenses
Cost of services:
Revenue share and royalties 155,85¢ 40,83. $ = 196,69(
Programming and content 70,38 2,47¢ (1,639 71,22(
Customer service and billing 80,29( — (511) 79,77¢
Satellite and transmission 19,49: — (827) 18,66¢
Cost of equipment 5,44z — — 5,44
Subscriber acquisition costs 129,99. 22,017 — 152,00¢
Sales and marketing 68,05¢ 4,15: (3,182 69,02¢
Engineering, design and development 15,05: — (1,639 13,41¢
General and administrative 60,39: — (7,707 52,69
Depreciation and amortization (a) 67,41¢ — — 67,41¢
Share-based payment expense — — 15,49 15,49
Total operating expenses 672,37: 69,47¢ % — 741,85:

(a) Purchase price accounting adjustments inclatbeste exclude the incremental depreciation and #mation associated with the $785,000
stepped up basis in property, equipment and intdegissets as a result of the Merger. The incredeeicbciation and amortization for the
three months ended June 30, 2013 was $12,000.

40




Table of Contents

Unaudited For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2014
Purchase Price

Accounting Allocation of Share-
(in thousands) As Reported Adjustments based Payment Expense Adjusted
Revenue:
Subscriber revenue $ 1,729,590 $ — % — % 1,729,59i
Advertising revenue 47,71 — — 47,71
Equipment revenue 51,59« — — 51,59«
Other revenue 204,15. 3,62¢ — 207,78(
Total revenue $ 2,033,05¢ $ 3,62¢ $ — 8 2,036,68:
Operating expenses
Cost of services:
Revenue share and royalties $ 395,63 $ — 3 — 3 395,63:
Programming and content 144,44( 1,89(C (4,469 141,86:
Customer service and billing 181,16: — (1,169 179,99°
Satellite and transmission 42,65 — (1,909 40,74¢
Cost of equipment 19,83« — — 19,83«
Subscriber acquisition costs 247,42¢ — — 247,42¢
Sales and marketing 154,08t — (6,979 147,112
Engineering, design and development 31,54 — (3,869 27,67¢
General and administrative 148,82! — (17,656 131,16¢
Depreciation and amortization (a) 135,47: — — 135,47:
Share-based payment expense — — 36,02: 36,02}
Total operating expenses $ 1,501,070 $ 1,890C $ — $ 1,502,961

(a) Purchase price accounting adjustments inclatbeste exclude the incremental depreciation and #mation associated with the $785,000
stepped up basis in property, equipment and intde@issets as a result of the Merger. The incredespicbciation and amortization for the six
months ended June 30, 2014 was $20,000.
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Unaudited For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2013
Purchase Price

Accounting Allocation of Share-
(in thousands) As Reported Adjustments based Payment Expense Adjusted
Revenue:
Subscriber revenue $ 1,598,061 $ — % — 3 1,598,06!
Advertising revenue 41,96¢ — — 41,96¢
Equipment revenue 36,59¢ — — 36,59¢
Other revenue 160,88: 3,62¢ — 164,50°
Total revenue $ 1,837,500 $ 3,62¢ $ — 8 1,841,13.
Operating expenses
Cost of services:
Revenue share and royalties $ 304,39 $ 80,59: $ — 3 384,98:
Programming and content 144,99: 4,95¢ (3,28)) 146,66t
Customer service and billing 160,68¢ — (981) 159,70:
Satellite and transmission 39,18¢ — (1,677 37,51
Cost of equipment 12,46¢ — — 12,46¢
Subscriber acquisition costs 246,10: 44,02: — 290,12¢
Sales and marketing 133,95¢ 8,31¢ (6,249 136,03:
Engineering, design and development 29,89« — (3,28)) 26,61
General and administrative 116,73: — (14,549 102,18:
Depreciation and amortization (a) 134,43 — — 134,43
Share-based payment expense — — 30,01: 30,01:
Total operating expenses $ 1,322,841 $ 137,88¢ $ — $ 1,460,72!

(a) Purchase price accounting adjustments inclatbeste exclude the incremental depreciation and #mation associated with the $785,000
stepped up basis in property, equipment and indem@issets as a result of the Merger. The incredespiceciation and amortization for six
months ended June 30, 2013 was $25,000.

ARPU - is derived from total earned subscriber reveadeertising revenue and other subscription-releggdnue, excluding revenue
associated with our connected vehicle businesgfrmirchase price accounting adjustments, divigethe number of months in the
period, divided by the daily weighted average numtfesubscribers for the period. Other subscriptielated revenue includes the U.S.
Music Royalty Fee. ARPU is calculated as followsttiousands, except for subscriber and per sules@ibounts):

Unaudited
For the Three Months Ended June 30, For the Six Months Ended June 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Subscriber revenue, excluding connected vehicleABA $ 855,84t $ 814,71¢ $ 1,688,64' $ 1,598,06!
Add: advertising revenue (GAAP) 25,49¢ 21,75; 47,715 41,96¢
Add: other subscription-related revenue (GAAP) 82,99( 71,64¢ 163,75¢ 135,78!
$ 964,33  $ 908,120 $ 1,900,11¢ $ 1,775,81
Daily weighted average number of subscribers 26,005,69 24,651,26 25,805,03 24,331,64
ARPU $ 12.3¢ % 1228 $ 1227 $ 12.1¢

Average selfpay monthly churn - is defined as the monthly average of self-payctieations for the period divided by the average
number of self-pay subscribers for the period.
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Customer service and billing expenses, per averagabscriber - is derived from total customer service and bjjlaxpenses, excluding
connected vehicle customer service and billing egpe and shaigased payment expense, divided by the number ofaam the periot
divided by the daily weighted average number ofstbers for the period. We believe the exclusibshare-based payment expense in
our calculation of customer service and billing exges, per average subscriber, is useful givesigingicant variation in expense that
can result from changes in the fair market valuewwsfcommon stock, the effect of which is unrelatethe operational conditions that
give rise to variations in the components of owstemer service and billing expenses. Customerseaid billing expenses, per average
subscriber, is calculated as follows (in thousaedsept for subscriber and per subscriber amounts):

Unaudited
For the Three Months Ended June 30, For the Six Months Ended June 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Customer service and billing expenses, excluding
connected vehicle (GAAP) $ 82,70t $ 80,29( $ 166,80¢ $ 160,68:
Less: share-based payment expense (GAAP) (587) (511) (1,169 (981)

$ 82,11¢ % 79,77¢ $ 165,64 % 159,70:
Daily weighted average number of subscribers 26,005,69 24,651,26 25,805,03 24,331,64
Customer service and billing expenses, per average
subscriber $ 1.05 $ 1.0¢ $ 1.07 $ 1.0¢

Free cash flow- is derived from cash flow provided by operatirgidties, capital expenditures and restricted atiter investment
activity. Free cash flow is calculated as followsthousands):

Unaudited
For the Three Months Ended June 30, For the Six Months Ended June 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Cash Flow information
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 340,68: $ 273,10t  $ 592,07. $ 442,02:
Net cash used in investing activities $ (5,63¢) $ (36,546 $ (33,099 $ (62,980
Net cash used in financing activities $ (286,23) $ 208,48: $ (523,80) $ (248,21)
Free Cash Flow
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 340,68. $ 273,10t $ 592,07. $ 442,02:

Additions to property and equipment (29,816 (36,54¢) (58,417 (62,980)

Return of capital from investment in unconsolidated

entity 24,17¢ — 24,17¢ —
Free cash flow $ 335,04« $ 236,56( $ 557,83: $ 379,04:

New vehicle consumer conversion rateis defined as the percentage of owners and Issfaeew vehicles that receive our satellite
radio service and convert to become self-payingatiiers after the initial promotion period. At tfime satellite radio enabled vehicles
are sold or leased, the owners or lessees genesabiyve trial subscriptions ranging from threévtelve months. We measure conversion
rate three months after the period in which thed service ends. The metric excludes rental aret flehicles.

Subscriber acquisition cost, per installatior+ or SAC, per installation, is derived from subberiacquisition costs and margins from the
sale of radios and accessories, excluding purghése accounting adjustments, divided by the nundbeatellite radio installations in
new vehicles and shipments of aftermarket radioshi® period. Purchase price accounting adjustnesssciated with the Merger inclt
the elimination of the benefit of amortization affdrred credits on executory contracts recognizéldeaMerger date attributable to an
OEM. SAC, per installation, is calculated as folto{in thousands, except for installation amounts):
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Unaudited
For the Three Months Ended June 30, For the Six Months Ended June 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Subscriber acquisition costs (GAAP) $ 124,400 $ 129,99: $ 247,42¢  $ 246,10:
Less: margin from direct sales of radios and acréess
(GAAP) (15,58¢) (13,009 (31,760 (24,130
Add: purchase price accounting adjustments — 22,01% — 44,02:

$ 108,82 % 139,00¢ % 215,66¢ $ 265,99!
Installations 3,279,56: 2,973,26' 6,358,07. 5,684,16!
SAC, per installation $ 33 % a7 3 34  $ 47

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABO UT MARKET RISKS

As of June 30, 2014 , we did not hold or issue fagg-standing derivatives. We hold investments arkatable securities consisting
of money market funds, certificates of deposit emvéstments in debt and equity securities of otimgities. We classify our investments in
marketable securities as available-gale. These securities are consistent with thectiages contained within our investment policy. THaesic
objectives of our investment policy are the preaton of capital, maintaining sufficient liquiditp meet operating requirements and
maximizing yield.

Our debt includes fixed rate instruments and tivenfiarket value of our debt is sensitive to charigesterest rates. Sirius XM's
borrowings under the Credit Facility carry a valéainterest rate based on LIBOR plus an applicedtie based on its debt to operating cash
flow ratio. Under our current policies, we do netunterest rate derivative instruments to managexposure to interest rate fluctuations.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Controls and Procedures

We maintain a set of disclosure controls and proesidesigned to ensure that information requivdaktdisclosed in reports that we
file or submit under the Exchange Act of 1934 gisarded, processed, summarized and reported withitime periods specified in SEC rules
and forms. The design of any disclosure controtb@ocedures is based in part upon certain assongpgibout the likelihood of future evel
and there can be no assurance that any desigaugikeed in achieving its stated goals under afimi@l future conditions. Any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and opbrasan provide only reasonable, not absolute, assarof achieving the desired control
objectives.

As of June 30, 2014 , an evaluation was perfornmettuthe supervision and with the participatiomof management, including James
E. Meyer, our Chief Executive Officer, and David-dear, our Executive Vice President and Chief kéiel Officer, of the effectiveness of |
design and operation of our disclosure controls@dedures (as that term is defined in Rule 13e)l&nd 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934). Based on that evaluationmanagement, including our Chief Executive Offiaad our Chief Financial Officer,
concluded that our disclosure controls and proeasiuere effective as of June 30, 2014 .

There has been no change in our internal contral francial reporting (as that term is definedRime 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) during theriguanded June 30, 2014 that has materially &ftedr is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial repaodgi
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PART Il — OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary course of business, we are a defenal party to various claims and lawsuits, inglgdhose discussed below. These
claims are at various stages of arbitration or @idation.

Sate Consumer Investigations. A Multistate Working Group of 32 State Attornggsneral, led by the Attorney General of the State
of Ohio, is investigating certain of our consumgeagtices. The investigation focuses on practicksing to the cancellation of subscriptions;
automatic renewal of subscriptions; charging, fglicollecting, and refunding or crediting of paytsefrom consumers; and soliciting
customers.

A separate investigation into our consumer prastisdeing conducted by the Attorneys General ®fState of Florida and the State
of New York. We are cooperating with these investiions and believe our consumer practices comply alf applicable federal and state
laws and regulations.

In our opinion, the result of these investigatidns|uding a possible settlement, will likely naive a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operadi

Other Matters. In the ordinary course of business, we are andigliet in various other lawsuits and arbitrationceexlings, including
derivative actions; actions filed by subscribethton behalf of themselves and on a class actisispformer employees; parties to contracts
or leases; and owners of patents, trademarks, ighpigror other intellectual property. None of thesatters, in our opinion, is likely to have a
material adverse effect on our business, finargabition or results of operations.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

There have been no material changes to the ris&rfapreviously disclosed in response to PartelnILA, of our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 .

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

As of June 30, 2014 , our board of directors haat@ped $4.0 billion for repurchases of our commiartls. In July 2014, our board
of directors approved an additional $2.0 billion fepurchases of our common stock. Our board efctbrs did not establish an end date for
this stock repurchase program. Shares of our constomk may be purchased from time to time on trenaparket and in privately
negotiated transactions, including in transactisitk Liberty Media and its affiliates. The size atimding of these purchases will be based on
a number of factors, including price and busineskraarket conditions.

The following table provides information about qurchases of equity securities registered pursimaBéction 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, during the quanided June 30, 2014 :

Approximate
Total Number of Dollar Value of
Shares Purchased  Shares that May
as Part of Publicly  Yet Be Purchased
Total Number of Average Price Paid  Announced Plans  Under the Plans or

Period Shares Purchased Per Share (a) or Programs Programs (a)

April 1, 2014 - April 30, 2014 131,135,90 $ 3.52 131,13590 $  1,647,493,71

May 1, 2014 - May 31, 2014 180,672,24 (b) 180,672,24 $ 828,517,53

June 1, 2014 - June 30, 2014 42,500,000 $ 3.3¢ 42,500,00 $ 684,736,88
Total 354,308,14 (b) 354,308,14

(@ These amounts include fees and commissions assoeidth the shares repurchas

(b) In May 2014, we paid $600 million under aBRagreement and received an initial delivery #2.% million shares of our common stock. The

ASR agreement is expected to mature no later thagugt 1, 2014 and will settle following maturityeeSNote 14 to the consolidated financial
statements included in this report. In additiorrjriyMay 2014 we purchased 68.2 million sharesusfammmon stock on the open market at an
average price of $3.21 per share.
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ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not applicable.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

See Exhibit Index attached hereto.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caussdréport to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized an28th day of July 2014.

SIRIUS XM HOLDINGS INC.

By: /s/ Davipo J. FREAR
David J. Frear
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Authorized
Signatory)

47




Table of Contents

EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit ~ Description

4.1 Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 10, 2@ong Sirius XM Radio Inc., the guarantors nanmeddin and U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee, relating to tf#5% Senior Notes due 2022 (incorporated by reterém Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Apfi, 2014).

4.2 Indenture, dated as of May 6, 2014, among SiriusRadio Inc., the guarantors named therein and Ba8k National
Association, as trustee, relating to the 6.00% @exotes due 2024 (incorporated by reference talih.1 to the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 7, 2014).

10.1 Amendment No. 1, dated as of April 22, 2014, to@hedit Agreement, dated as of December 5, 2012ngr®irius XM Radio
Inc., the Lenders party thereto and JPMorgan CBasé&, N.A. as administrative agent for the Lendasscollateral agent for tl
Secured Parties and as an Issuing Bank (incormbbgteeference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company'sr€hirReport on Form 8-K
filed on April 22, 2014).

31.1 Certificate of James E. Meyer, Chief Executive €Hfi pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxitypf 2002 (filed
herewith).

31.z Certificate of David J. Frear, Executive Vice Pdesit and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Sec802 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

32.1 Certificate of James E. Meyer, Chief Executive €Hfi pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adgptegiiant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

32.z Certificate of David J. Frear, Executive Vice Pdesit and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 Q.. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002 (filed herewith).

101.1 The following financial information from our Quarkg Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended BMhe2014 formatted in

eXtensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL)C@hsolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomeautited) for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2i)1Gpnsolidated Balance Sheets as of June 304 20haudited) and
December 31, 2013; (iii) Consolidated StatementStotkholders’ Equity for the six months ended J8De2014 (Unaudited);
(iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaddlifor the six months ended June 30, 2014 and;201B(v) Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).

The agreements and other documents filed as eshibthis report are not intended to provide faanfarmation or other disclosure other
than with respect to the terms of the agreementshar documents themselves, and you should npbrethem for that purpose. In particu
any representations and warranties made by ugsethgreements or other documents were made sdlbiy the specific context of the
relevant agreement or document and may not desttrébactual state of affairs as of the date theneweade or at any other time.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, James E. Meyer, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Fo@v(Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 26f18irius XM Holdings Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact orténstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the

period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andénav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proasgur caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

(b) Designed such internal control over finanoggdorting, or caused such internal control oveatfitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatisclosure controls and procedures and presémtais report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportitigit occurred during the registrant's

most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fogttarter in the case of an annual report) thanheterially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggan

The registrant's other certifying officer antilve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thdtaxmnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent

functions):

(@) all significant deficiencies and material weegses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and rtefpmaincial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that imesl management or other employees who have aisamifole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

By: Is/ Iames E. MEYER

James E. Meyer
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

July 29, 2014



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, David J. Frear, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Fo@v(Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 26f18irius XM Holdings Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact orténstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andénav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proasgur caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

(b) Designed such internal control over finanoggdorting, or caused such internal control oveatfitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatisclosure controls and procedures and presémtais report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportitigit occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fogttarter in the case of an annual report) thanheterially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggan

The registrant's other certifying officer antilve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thdtaxmnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@) all significant deficiencies and material weegses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and rtefpmaincial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that imesl management or other employees who have aisamifole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

By: /s/Davib J. FREAR

David J. Frear

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

July 29, 2014



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY
ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of SiriustXdoldings Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q foethquarterly period ended
June 30, 2014 as filed with the Securities and Brge Commission on the date hereof (the “Repdrtdames E. Meyer, Chief Executive

Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 ICSSection 1350, as adopted pursuant to Secti6roBthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; an

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finarmaldition and results of operations of the

Company.
By: /sl James E. M EYER
James E. Meyer
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
July 29, 2014

A signed original of thiswritten statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of thiswritten statement required by Section 906, has been

provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and fur nished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon
reguest.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY
ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Siriusi>Xdoldings Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q foethuarterly period ended
June 30, 2014 as filed with the Securities and Brge Commission on the date hereof (the “RepdrtDavid J. Frear, Executive Vice

President and Chief Financial Officer of the Comparertify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350adgspted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; an

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finarmaldition and results of operations of the

Company.
By: /s/Davip J. FReEAR
David J. Frear
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
July 29, 2014

A signed original of thiswritten statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of thiswritten statement required by Section 906, has been

provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and fur nished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon
reguest.



